
 

 
County Hall, New Road, Oxford, OX1 1ND 

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  Fax: 01865 783195  Media Enquiries 01865 323870 
 

Notice of a Meeting 
 

Adult Services Scrutiny Committee 
Tuesday, 26 February 2013 at 10.00 am 

County Hall 
Membership 
 
Chairman - Councillor Jim Couchman 
Deputy Chairman - Councillor Mrs Anda  Fitzgerald-O'Connor 
 
Councillors: Jenny Hannaby 

Alyas Ahmed 
Charles Mathew 

 

John Sanders 
Dr Peter Skolar 
Richard Stevens 

 

Alan Thompson 
David Wilmshurst 

 

 
Notes:  

 
Date of next meeting: 23 April 2013 

 
What does this Committee review or scrutinise? 
• Adult social services; health issues; 
 
How can I have my say? 
We welcome the views of the community on any issues in relation to the responsibilities 
of this Committee.  Members of the public may ask to speak on any item on the agenda 
or may suggest matters which they would like the Committee to look at.  Requests to 
speak must be submitted to the Committee Officer below no later than 9 am on the 
working day before the date of the meeting. 
 
For more information about this Committee please contact: 
 
Chairman - Councillor Jim Couchman 
  E.Mail: jim.couchman@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
Committee Officer - Simon Grove-White, Tel: (01865) 323628 

simon.grove-white@oxfordshire.gov.uk 
 

 

 
Peter G. Clark  
County Solicitor February 2013 

Public Document Pack



 

 

About the County Council 
The Oxfordshire County Council is made up of 74 councillors who are democratically 
elected every four years. The Council provides a range of services to Oxfordshire’s 
630,000 residents. These include: 
schools social & health care libraries and museums 
the fire service roads  trading standards 
land use  transport planning waste management 
 

Each year the Council manages £0.9 billion of public money in providing these services. 
Most decisions are taken by a Cabinet of 9 Councillors, which makes decisions about 
service priorities and spending. Some decisions will now be delegated to individual 
members of the Cabinet. 
 
About Scrutiny 
 
Scrutiny is about: 
• Providing a challenge to the Cabinet 
• Examining how well the Cabinet and the Authority are performing  
• Influencing the Cabinet on decisions that affect local people 
• Helping the Cabinet to develop Council policies 
• Representing the community in Council decision making  
• Promoting joined up working across the authority’s work and with partners 
 
Scrutiny is NOT about: 
• Making day to day service decisions 
• Investigating individual complaints. 
 
What does this Committee do? 
The Committee meets up to 6 times a year or more. It develops a work programme, 
which lists the issues it plans to investigate. These investigations can include whole 
committee investigations undertaken during the meeting, or reviews by a panel of 
members doing research and talking to lots of people outside of the meeting.  Once an 
investigation is completed the Committee provides its advice to the Cabinet, the full 
Council or other scrutiny committees. Meetings are open to the public and all reports are 
available to the public unless exempt or confidential, when the items would be 
considered in closed session 
 

If you have any special requirements (such as a large print 
version of these papers or special access facilities) please 
contact the officer named on the front page, giving as much 
notice as possible before the meeting  

A hearing loop is available at County Hall. 
 
 
 



 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

1. Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  
 

2. Declarations of Interest - see guidance note  
 

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 8) 
 

4. Speaking to or petitioning the Committee  
 

5. Director's Update  
10:05 

 John Jackson, Director for Social and Community Services, will update the committee 
on local and national developments in Adult Social Care. 

6. Safeguarding Board Annual Report (Pages 9 - 46) 
10:45 

 Lucy Butler, Deputy Director for Adult Services, will present the Annual Safeguarding 
report from the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board. The report summarises cross-
sector work undertaken to ensure that vulnerable adults are protected from harm both 
in care settings and at home. 

7. Pooled Budgets (Pages 47 - 48) 
11:20 

 John Jackson will update the committee on the development of a single Section 75 
agreement between Oxfordshire County Council and the Clinical Commissioning 
Group.  
 
The committee are invited to: 
 

• Note the progress in developing the single Section 75 Agreement that will come 
into effect on 1 April 2013. 

• Agree to consider the Joint Older People’s Commissioning Strategy before it is 
considered by Cabinet in June 2013. 

 

8. LINk and Healthwatch Update (Pages 49 - 56) 
11:50  

 Adrian Chant and Sue Butterworth will update the committee on recent developments 
for the Local Involvement Network including the agreed priorities from the 2012 
Hearsay event. 
 
Lisa Gregory will update the committee on the transition to the new HealthWatch 
provider. 



- 2 - 
 

 

9. Care Homes Fees (Pages 57 - 70) 
12:10 

 John Jackson, Director of Social and Community Services, will introduce the proposals 
on the directorate position on Care Home Fees. It has been proposed that the 
directorate should: 
 

• Confirm the interim payment 3% already paid to care homes in 2012/13 and 
• Increase the payments for residential homes and for the lower band for nursing 

homes from 1st April 2013. 
 
The report is currently out for consultation. The committee are invited to comment on 
the proposals. 

 

10. Close of Meeting  
12:50 

  



- 3 - 
 

 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 
The duty to declare….. 
Under the Localism Act 2011 it is a criminal offence to 
(a) fail to register a disclosable pecuniary interest within 28 days of election or co-option (or re-

election or re-appointment), or 
(b) provide false or misleading information on registration, or 
(c) participate in discussion or voting in a meeting on a matter in which the member or co-opted 

member has a disclosable pecuniary interest. 

Whose Interests must be included? 
The Act provides that the interests which must be notified are those of a member or co-opted 
member of the authority, or 
• those of a spouse or civil partner of the member or co-opted member; 
• those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as husband/wife 
• those of a person with whom the member or co-opted member is living as if they were civil 

partners. 
(in each case where the member or co-opted member is aware that the other person has the 
interest). 

What if I remember that I have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the Meeting?. 
The Code requires that, at a meeting, where a member or co-opted member has a disclosable 
interest (of which they are aware) in any matter being considered, they disclose that interest to 
the meeting. The Council will continue to include an appropriate item on agendas for all 
meetings, to facilitate this. 

Although not explicitly required by the legislation or by the code, it is recommended that in the 
interests of transparency and for the benefit of all in attendance at the meeting (including 
members of the public) the nature as well as the existence of the interest is disclosed. 

A member or co-opted member who has disclosed a pecuniary interest at a meeting must not 
participate (or participate further) in any discussion of the matter; and must not participate in any 
vote or further vote taken; and must withdraw from the room. 

Members are asked to continue to pay regard to the following provisions in the code that “You 
must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an advantage or 
disadvantage on any person including yourself” or “You must not place yourself in situations 
where your honesty and integrity may be questioned…..”. 

Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer prior to the meeting should you have any doubt 
about your approach. 

List of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests: 
Employment (includes“any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain”.), Sponsorship, Contracts, Land, Licences, Corporate Tenancies, Securities. 

For a full list of Disclosable Pecuniary Interests and further Guidance on this matter please see 
the Guide to the New Code of Conduct and Register of Interests at Members’ conduct guidelines. 
http://intranet.oxfordshire.gov.uk/wps/wcm/connect/occ/Insite/Elected+members/ or contact 
Rachel Dunn on (01865) 815279 or rachel.dunn@oxfordshire.gov.uk for a hard copy of the 
document. 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

ADULT SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Monday, 17 December 2012 commencing at 10.00 
am and finishing at 13:15 
 
Present: 
 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Jim Couchman – in the Chair 
 

 Councillor Mrs Anda  Fitzgerald-O'Connor (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby 
Councillor Alyas Ahmed 
Councillor Charles Mathew 
Councillor John Sanders 
Councillor Dr Peter Skolar 
Councillor Richard Stevens 
Councillor Alan Thompson 
Councillor David Wilmshurst 
 

Other Members in 
Attendance: 
 

Councillor Arash Fatemian 

By Invitation: 
 

 

Officers: 
 

 
 

Whole of meeting John Jackson 
Sara Livadeas 
Lucy Butler 
 
 

Part of meeting 
 

Stephen McHale 
 
 

Agenda Item Officer Attending 
  
 
The Scrutiny Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations 
contained or referred to in the agenda for the meeting [, together with a schedule of 
addenda tabled at the meeting/the following additional documents:] and agreed as 
set out below.  Copies of the agenda and reports [agenda, reports and 
schedule/additional documents] are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 
 

248/12 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda No. 1) 

 
249/12 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - SEE GUIDANCE NOTE  

(Agenda No. 2) 

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



AS3 

 
250/12 MINUTES  

(Agenda No. 3) 
 
The minutes of the meeting of November 13th were signed and approved. 
 

251/12 SPEAKING TO OR PETITIONING THE COMMITTEE  
(Agenda No. 4) 
 
Laura Price, Friends of the Elms Day Centre, addressed the committee on the 
subject of the recent Day Centre consultation. Laura emphasised the importance of 
day services and highlighted her concern that the rise in fees was too dramatic to be 
done at once. 
 
Officers responded that they had considered this and made amendments to ensure 
that the cost will increase incrementally over a phased two year period. 
 
Councillor Gill Sanders addressed the committee reiterating the value of preventative 
services and emphasising the need to better understand the impact of these 
services.  
 
The Chairman thanked the speakers for their input. 
 

252/12 DAY OPPORTUNITIES AND TRANSPORT STRATEGY CONSULTATION  
(Agenda No. 5) 
 
Councillor Arash Fatemian, Cabinet Member for Adult Services, introduced the item, 
emphasising his commitment to day services and stating that the purpose of the 
changes was to make the service sustainable in the long term.  
 
The results of the consultation process were discussed (see report), and it was 
emphasised that the consultation had focussed primarily on the views of people who 
would be effected by the changes, namely clients who are ineligible for funding under 
Fairer Charging.  
 
In response to feedback that the increase in fees was too dramatic, it has been 
agreed that the price will be increased incrementally over a 2 year period. 
 
The need to monitor attendance data was emphasised by members, who requested 
that an annual report should be brought to the committee. 
 
The committee voted 7 to 3 in favour of the recommendations of the report, subject to 
the additional requirement to produce an annual report to the committee outlining the 
impact of the changes on attendance and service levels. 
 
 

253/12 UPDATE ON CARE QUALITY COMMISSION MEETING  
(Agenda No. 6) 
 

Page 2



AS3 

Councillor Peter Skolar, Chairman of the Health Overview Scrutiny Committee, and 
Councillor Jim Couchman, Chairman of the Adult Service Committee, updated the 
committee on a recent meeting with senior officers from the Care Quality 
Commission. The chairmen were concerned that despite being under-resourced, 
CQC would now have to regulate 80 GP practices in addition to the whole Care 
Home sector. 
 
Further concerns were expressed that there was no requirement for CQC staff to 
have any background in Health or Social Care, and that care is regulated based on 
management specifications with little scope for professional judgement.  
 
Officers agreed with the cross party consensus that the remit of CQC as a single 
regulator leaves too large a task for a single body.  
 
 
 

254/12 DIRECTOR'S UPDATE  
(Agenda No. 7) 
 
John Jackson, Director of Social and Community Services, updated the committee on 
local and national developments. 
 
The committee were informed of a recent Department of Health publication on 
Winterbourne View. It was felt that this contained little new information since the last 
briefing. 
 
The director outlined the timetable for discussions on the Service and Resource 
Planning process. Due to delays in the local government settlement, the meeting of 
the scrutiny committee will be considered on January 10th, later than originally 
planned. 
 
Following a series of court cases nationwide, officers are working hard to establish a 
position on care home fees. The Association of Directors for Adult Social Services 
recommends a simplified banding model. Options are being explored and a report will 
be taken to cabinet in January before going to consultation. A report will be brought 
to the Scrutiny Committee in February. 
 
 

255/12 DEVELOPING THE PROJECT AGREEMENT WITH THE OXFORDSHIRE 
CARE PARTNERSHIP  
(Agenda No. 8) 
 
EXEMPT INFORMATION 
 
It was resolved that the public be excluded for the duration of item 5 (since it is likely 
that if they were present during that item there would be disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
(as amended) and specified below in relation to that item and since it is considered 
that, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in maintaining the 

Page 3



AS3 

exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information on the grounds 
set out in that item. 
 
THE REPORT RELATING TO THE EXEMPT ITEM HAS NOT BEEN MADE 
PUBLIC AND SHOULD BE REGARDED AS STRICTLY PRIVATE TO MEMBERS 
AND OFFICERS ENTITLED TO RECEIVE IT. 
 
 
The information in this case is exempt in that it falls within the following prescribed 
categories: 
 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 

(including the authority holding that information) 

and it is considered that, in all the circumstances of the case, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information, 
in that otherwise commercially sensitive information would be disclosed to the 
detriment of the companies involved. 
 
 
John Jackson introduced the paper outlining progress in the negotiations towards the 
project agreement for the Oxfordshire Care Partnership. It was pointed out that the 
proposals had changed following the feedback of the committee in January 2012. 
The director emphasised that the proposed agreement is better aligned with the 
future needs of the directorate, in both a financial and strategic sense.  
 
A vote was taken on the recommendations of the report. The committee voted in 
favour by margin of 7 to 2, with 1 abstention. 
 
 
 

256/12 CLOSE OF MEETING  
(Agenda No. 9) 
 
The meeting closed at 13:15. 
 
 
 
 in the Chair 
  
Date of signing   

Page 4



 

ADULT SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of the meeting held on Thursday, 10 January 2013 commencing at 8.30 
am and finishing at 10:30 
 
Present: 
 

 

Voting Members: Councillor Jim Couchman – in the Chair 
 

 Councillor Mrs Anda  Fitzgerald-O'Connor (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Councillor Jenny Hannaby 
Councillor Alyas Ahmed 
Councillor Charles Mathew 
Councillor John Sanders 
Councillor Alan Thompson 
Councillor David Wilmshurst 
Councillor Gill Sanders 
Councillor Lawrie Stratford 
 

Other Members in 
Attendance: 
 

 

By Invitation: 
 

 

Officers: 
 

John Jackson 
Sue Scane 
Lorna Baxter 
Sara Livadeas 
Lucy Butler 
 
 

Whole of meeting   
 

Part of meeting 
 

 

Agenda Item  
  
 
The Scrutiny Committee considered the matters, reports and recommendations 
contained or referred to in the agenda for the meeting and agreed as set out below.  
Copies of the agenda and are attached to the signed Minutes. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5



AS3 

257/12 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TEMPORARY APPOINTMENTS  
(Agenda No. 1) 
 
Councillor Richard Stevens sent apologies. Councillor Gill Sanders attended as a 
substitute.  
 
Councillor Peter Skolar sent apologies. Councillor Lawrie Stratford attended as a 
substitute. 
 

258/12 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST - SEE GUIDANCE NOTE  
(Agenda No. 2) 
 
None 
 

259/12 SPEAKING TO OR PETITIONING THE COMMITTEE  
(Agenda No. 3) 
 
Mr Michael Hugh-Jones, Secretary of the Oxfordshire Pensioners Action group, 
addressed the committee on the subject of the budget proposals, raising concerns 
about the capacity of services to meet the proposed reductions without impacting on 
service users.  
 
Mr Hugh-Jones raised the additional issue that the timing of the meeting made it 
difficult for pensioners to attend using their concessionary bus passes, which are only 
active after 9:00. 
 
The committee noted his concerns. 
 

260/12 SERVICE & RESOURCE PLANNING 2013/14 - 2016/17  
(Agenda No. 4) 
 
Lorna Baxter gave an overview of the report to the committee. John Jackson 
supplemented this with a presentation identifying the key facts for the committee. 
 
The committee expressed concerns over: 

• The recent increase in demand and the fact that the reasons are not fully 
understood. 

• The assumption that the trend of increasing demand for care home 
placements will be reversed 

• The difficulties in quantifying the impact of preventative services. 
 
The committee applauded: 

• The aspiration to increase the use of preventative services and early 
interventions. 

• The fact that the eligibility criteria for services will remain at substantial/critical. 
• The actions in place to alleviate demand-led pressures, including the 

Discharge to Assess programme. 
• The move towards a mixed provision of residential care, with greater emphasis 

on Extra Care Housing. 

Page 6



AS3 

• The aspiration to produce a robust model to estimate future demand. 
• The aspiration to better understand the impact of preventative services. 

 
The committee AGREED the proposals outlined in the paper, and made the 
additional recommendation that: 

• The pressure included in error (Increase in Care Home Fees - 14SCS11) 
should be removed from the papers with the savings absorbed in the older 
people’s pool (14SCS5). 

 
 
 
 in the Chair 
  
Date of signing   

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



  

Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults 
Board - Annual Report 2011-2012 

Safeguarding is everybody’s business…  

Agencies  work ing together  to  ensure a  coherent  pol icy  and a consistent  and effect ive  
response for  the protect ion of  vulnerable  adults  at  r i sk  of  abuse   

Agenda Item 6

Page 9



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Forward 

Everybody’s business... 

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board has  
mainta ined the support  of  a l l  agencies  to  strengthen work 
across  the County  to  safeguard adults  in  their  own homes 
and in  care  sett ings.   The Board is  now wel l  informed of  
the exten t  to  which agencies  ident i fy  safeguarding 
concerns  and the response by  agencies  to  the concerns.  

Having establ ished a  strong structural  base for  the iden t i f icat ion and response to  the 
safeguarding needs of  vulnerable  adults ,  the Board is  now set  to  focus  on the qual i ty  of  
serv ices  and the pre vention of  abuse to  vulnerable  adults  ac ross  the County .    With in  the 
last  year ,  the Board has  establ ished a  D ignity  in  Care sub -group and th is  has  provided a  
strong bas is  for  engaging with  serv ice  providers  to  focus  on how serv ices  are  provided to  
the most  vulnerable  adults .  

The Board remains  committed to  learning f rom local  and national  rev iews of  serv ices  to  
inf luence both pol icy  and pract ice  in  Oxfordshire,  and the Board has  cont inued to  
develop l inks  with  other  agencies  and bodies  to  inform and be informed of  the 
safeguarding needs of  vulnerable  adults  in  the County .  

Whi le  the Board provides  leadership and c oordinat ion,  the Board is  c lear  that  i t  is  the 
cont inuing commitment of  staff  across  al l  agencies  that  makes a  d i fference for  the 
res idents  of  Oxfordshire.  

 

Donald  McPhai l  

Independent  Chair  of  the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board  

Page 10



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Contents 

Introduct ion  3  

Summary  of  Board Act iv i t ies  2011 -2012  4  

·  Leadership and Strategy  5  

·  Exper iences  of  People  10  

·  Del ivery ,  Performance & Resources  19  

·  Working Together  26  

Appendix 1  -  Role Descr ipt ion for  Safeguarding Adults  Board Members  28  

Appendix 2  -  Role Descr ipt ion for  Independent Chair  29  

Appendix 3  –  Terms of  Reference  30  

 

Page 11



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Introduction 

Safeguarding adults i s  about helping people  l ive  
f ree f rom abuse and neglect.  

Abuse is  a  v io lat ion of  an ind iv idual ’s  human and 
civ i l  r ights  by  any other  person or  persons (No 
Secrets ,  Depar tment of  Health,  2000) .   

Anyone can be vulnerable  to  harm as  a  result  of  abuse or  neglect  at  some t ime in  their  
l ives.  Some adults  are  more at  r i sk  than others.  They  include adults  with  phys ica l ,  sensory  
and mental  impairments  and learning d isabi l i t ies .  These adu lts ’  independence a nd 
wel lbeing would  be at  r i sk  i f  they  d id  not  receive appropr iat e  health  and socia l  care  
support.   

The  r e p or t ,  A s te p i n t he  r ig ht  di r ec t io n:  The  p o l ic i ng  o f  a nti - s o c ia l  be ha vi o r  ( 201 2) ,  s ho w ed  
t ha t  pe op le  s e l f -d e f in i ng  a s  d i sa b led ,  o r  w ho  r e po r t  a  lo ng -ter m he a lt h  c o nd it i o n,  a r e  far  
mo r e  s us ce pt i b le  to  b e i ng  ha r me d  b y a nti - s o ci a l  be ha vi o ur  ( Her  Majesty 's  Inspect orate of  
Constabulary ,  2012) .  

Pe o p le  w i t h  me nt a l  he a lt h  p ro b le ms  a re  r o ut i ne ly  s ub j ec te d  to  p hys ic a l  a nd s e xual  ab us e o r  
t he ft  b y  t he i r  ne i g hbo ur s  (Mind,  2007) .   

A t  lea s t  ha l f  a  mi l l i on  o ld e r  pe o p le  e xp e ri e nc i ng  s ome  fo r m of  a b us e a t  a ny  p o i nt  i n  t i me
(House of  Commons,  Health  Committee,  2005) .   

Any  person at  r i sk  of  abuse or  neglect  should  be able  to  access  the sup port  which 
enables  them to  l ive  a  l i fe  f ree f rom v io lence and abuse.  

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board has  a  cr i t ica l  ro le  in  the leadership and 
management of  Safeguarding .  I ts  purpose is  to  c reate a  f ramework with in  which a l l  
responsible  agencies  work together  to  ensure there is  a  coherent  pol icy  for  the 
protect ion of  vulnerable  adults  at  r i sk  of  abuse and a  consistent  and effect ive  response 
to  any  c i rcumstances g iv ing ground for  concern.  

 

Page 12



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Summary of Board Activities 2011-2012 

The Standards for  Adult  Safeguarding  have been developed in  partnership by  The Local  
Government Group,  ADASS,  The NHS Federat ion and SCIE.  They  are  a  f ramework fo r  good 
pract ice .  The theme s ident i f ied  with in  these standards  have been used to  report  on the 
work  of  the Board for  2011 -2012.    

Adapted f rom the Standards  of  Adult  Safeguarding (LGA,  ADASS,  SCIE,  NHS Federat ion 
2012) .    

Experiences of 
people  

This theme looks at 
what difference to 
outcomes for people 
there has been in 
relation to Adult 
Safeguarding and the 
quality of experience 
of people who have 
used the services 
provided 

Expe

This the
what d
outcom
there ha
relation
Safegu
quality 
of peopl
used the
provided

Leadership & 
strategy                  

 
 
 
This theme looks at 
the overall vision for 
Adult Safeguarding 
and the strategy that 
is used to achieve 
that vision. 

Delivery, 
performance and 

resources 
 
 
This theme looks at 
delivery, the 
effectiveness of 
practice and how the 
performance and 
resources are 
managed 

Working 
together 

 
This themes looks at 
the role and 
performance of the 
Local Safeguarding 
Board and how all 
partners work 
together to ensure 
high quality services 
and outcomes 

Standards of  Adult  Safeguarding  

Page 13



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

1. Leadership & Strategy 

This  theme looks  at  the overal l  v is ion for  Adult  Safeguarding,  the strategy  that  i s  used to  
achieve that  v is ion.  

The creat ion of  a  local  mult i -agency  management committee as  a  means of  achiev ing 
effect ive  inter -agency  work ing was recommended in  the Department of  Health  report ,  No 
Secrets :  Guidance on developing and implementing mult i -agency  pol ic ies  and procedures  
to  protect  vulnerabl e  adults  f rom abuse (2000).  This  guidance,  i ssued under  Sect ion 7  of  

the Local  Author i ty  Socia l  Serv ices  Act  1970,  requires  local  
author i t ies  in  their  socia l  serv ices  funct ions  to  play  a 
coordinat ing ro le  in  the development of  local  pol ic ies  and 
procedures  for  the protect ion of  vulnerable  adults  f rom abuse.  
A  mult i -agency  working group was establ ished in  Oxfordshire  in  
2001 ,  which led  to  the development of  the Oxfordshire  Codes of  
Pract ice  for  the Protect ion of  Al l  Vulnerable  Adults  f rom  Abuse,  

Explo itat ion and Mistreatment in  May 2002 and the development of  the Oxfordshire  Adult  
Protect ion Committee.  The publ icat ion of  Safeguarding Adults  –  A  nat ional  f ramework of  
standards  for  good pract ice  and outcomes in  adult  protect ion work  (ADASS,  20 05)  led  the 
committee to  re -evaluate i ts  exis t ing  t i t l e  and terms of  reference and become the 
Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board.   

Structure and function 

The Aims  of  Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adult  Board are  to  e nsure tha t  a l l  inc idents  of  
suspec ted harm ,  abuse or  neglect  are  reported and responded to  proport ionately ,  and in  
doing so:  

·  Enable  people  to  mainta in  the maximum poss ible  level  of  independence,  choice a nd 
contro l  

·  Promote the wel lbeing,  secur i ty  and safety  of  vulnerable  people  consistent  with  h is  or  
her  r ights ,  capacity  and personal  responsibi l i ty ,  and prevent abuse occurr ing  wherever  
poss ible  

·  Ensure that  people  feel  able  to  compla in without fear  of  retr ibut ion  
·  Ensure that  a l l  profess ionals  who have responsibi l i t ies  re lat ing  to  safeguarding adults  

have the sk i l l s  and knowledge to  carry  out  th is  funct ion  
·  Ensure that  safegua rding adults  i s  integral  to  the development and del ivery  of  

serv ices  in  Oxfordshire.  

Page 14



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

The Terms of  Reference  (Appendix  3)  out l ine the responsibi l i t ies  of  member  
organisat ions.  

Membership 

Our Board includes members  f rom al l  statutory  agencies  inc luding Oxfordshire  County  
Counci l ,  Thames Val ley  Pol ice,  NHS Oxfordshire,  Oxford Health  NHS Foundation Trust  and 
the Oxford Univers ity  Hospita ls  NHS Trust .  The Oxfordshire  Drug and Alcohol  Act ion 
Team (DAAT)  is  a  new member  of  the Board.   

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adult  Board has  an independent chair  to  ensure t hat  a l l  
agencies  involved can be impart ia l ly  chal lenged or  supported.  

Structure 

Five subgroups support  the Board  

 

1 .  Pol icy  and Pract ice   

To oversee the development,  implementat ion and rev iew of  local  pol ic ies  and procedures  
that  ensure:  the abu se of  vulnerable  adults  i s  ident i f ied  where i t  i s  occurr ing;  that  there 
is  a  c lear  report ing  pathway;  that  there  is  an  effect ive  and coordinated response to  

 
County Council 

Cabinet 
 

Social & Community 
Services Scrutiny 

Committee 

Oxfordshire 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

Policy & 
Practice 

Training 

Deprivation of 
Liberty 

Safeguards 

Dignity in Care 

Serious Case 
Review 

Page 15



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

abuse where i t  i s  occurr ing;  that  the ne eds and wishes  of  the vulnerable  adult  are  centra l  
to  the adult  protect ion process .  

2.  Training 

To provide a comprehensive mult i -agency  tra in ing programme  to  support  s ingle  agency  
tra in ing in  the areas  of  prevention,  recognit ion and responsiveness  to  abuse and  neglect.  

3.  Serious Case Review  

To provide assurances to  the OSAB that  the recommendations  and learning f rom al l  
re levant  ser ious  cas e rev iews (with  mul t i -agency  character i st ics)  have been considered,  
and that  the re levant  learning and recommendations are  being implemented.  

4 .  Dignity in  Care  

To help ensure that  everyone in  Oxfordshire  exper iences  d ignity  in  the care  and support  
they  receive,  and to  ass ist  O SAB in  i ts  work.  

5.  Deprivat ion of  L iberty  Safeguards  

To ensure that  Depr ivat ion of  L iberty  Safeguards  are  effect ively  and law ful ly  appl ied  
across  Oxfordshire.   

Board governance 

The Board wi l l  report  annual ly  to  th e Oxfordshire  County  Counci l ,  So cia l  & Commun ity  
Serv ices  Scrut iny  Committee.   

In  addit ion each core/statutory  member  of  the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board is  
expec ted to  report  t o  i ts  own management committee.  

Board Budget 

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board is  pr imar i ly  funded by  Oxfor dshire  County  
Counci l  (Adult  Social  Care)  with  contr ibut ions  f rom Oxford Health  and Ridgeway 
Oxfordshire  Learning Disabi l i ty  NHS Trust .   

The Depr ivat ion of  Liberty  Safeguards  serv ice  is  funded joint ly  by  NHS Oxfordshire  and 
Oxfordshire  County  Counci l .   

Other  costs  and expenses,  e .g .  t ime spe nt by  partner  agencies  on Board act iv i t ies ,  
fac i l i tat ing  staff  re lease for  tra in ing etc.  are  borne by  the ind iv idual  organisat ions.   

Page 16



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Legislation and the national context 

Al l  persons have the r ight  to  l ive  their  l ives  f ree f rom v io lence and abuse.  This  r ight  i s  
underpinned by  the duty  on publ ic  agencies  under  the Human Rights  Act  ( 1998)  to  
intervene proport ionately  to  protect  th e r ights  of  c i t izens.  These r ights  inc lude Art ic le  2 :  
‘ the Right  to  l i fe ’ ;  Art ic le  3 :  ‘Freedo m from torture’  ( inc luding humi l iat ing and degrading 
treatment) ;  and Art ic le  8 :  ‘R ight  to  family  l i fe ’  (one that  susta ins  the ind iv idual) .  

No Secrets  (Department of  Health,  2000)  i s  the core guidance on developing and 
implementing mult i -agency  pol ic ies  and  procedures  to  protect  vulnerable  adul ts  f rom 
abuse.  

Other  leg is lat ion part icular ly  re levant  t o  safeguarding adults  inc ludes:  

·  Equal i ty  Act  2010  
·  Mental  Capacity  Act  2005  
·  Safeguarding Vulnerable  Groups Act  2006  
·  Mental  Health  Act  1983.  
·  NHS Act  2006 

National developments this year 

The Law Commission Paper  

On 11  May 2011  the Law Commiss ion publ ished Adult  Socia l  Care,  which rev iews adult  
socia l  care  law in  England and Wales  and contains  recommendations  for  reform.   

The Di lnot  Commission:  Social  care  fu nding 

On 4 July  2011  the Commiss ion reported to  Government with  i ts  f ind ing and 
recommendations for  a  new funding system.  The report  h ighl ighted that  the cu rrent  
funding system is  in urgent need of  reform .  

Health  and Wellbeing Board  

Health  and wel lbeing bo ards  are  an important  feature of  the NHS reforms and are  key  to  
promoting greater  integrat ion of  health  and local  government serv ices.  Work  is  currently  
being completed in  Oxfordshire  to  ensure the lo cal  Health  and Wel lbeing Board p r ior i t ies  
are  l inked wit h  the Safeguarding Adult  Board pr ior i t ies .  

Page 17



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Other developments 

Over  the last  year  a  range of  guidance has  been issued for  partners  in  safeguarding.  This  
inc ludes guidance:  

·  By ADASS in  the form of  an Advice Note for  d i rectors   
·  From DH in  re lat ion to  personal isat ion and safeguarding  
·  For  the NHS in  the form of  a sui te  of  best  pract ic e  guides  
·  From ACPO ( in  draft)  for  the pol ice  
·  From the Ministry  of  Just ice  for  the pol ice  in  working with  vulnerable  witnesses  in  the 

cr iminal  just ice  system  
·  From DH on commiss ioning  serv ices  for  women and chi ldren who exper ience v io lence 

or  abuse  
·  From SCIE,  a  number  of  guides,  inc luding on the Governance of  Safeguarding Boards,  a  

Guide to  the Law,  Involv ing People  and Self -Neglect  ( funded by  the Department of  
Health)  

·  Through LGA,  on “Making Safeguarding Personal”  (part  funded by  DH)  
·  From the City  of  London Pol ice  and the Nat ional  Fraud Intel l igence Bureau on F inancia l  

Abuse  
·  From ADASS and the Forced Marr iage Unit  on forced marr iages  and people  with  

learning d isabi l i t ies  
·  From the  NHS C onfederat ion,  Local  Government Group and Age UK,  ‘Del iver ing 

Dignity :  Secur ing dignity  in  care  for  o lder  people  in  hospita ls  and care homes’ .   

 

Page 18



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

2. Experiences of people  
This  theme looks  at  what d i fference to  outcomes for people  there has  been in  re lat ion to  
Adult  Safeguarding and the q ual i ty  of  exper ience of  people  who have used the serv ices  
provided.   

The Oxfordshire population 
Oxfordshire  i s  a  predominantly  rura l  county  in  which 653,800 people  l ive  (2011  census) .  
Indeed,  the county  is  the most  rura l  in  the South East  reg ion and West  Oxfordshire  i s  one 
of  the region’s  least  densely  populated d istr icts .  37% of  the populat ion l ives  in  
sett lements  of  less  than 10 ,000 people  with  63% l iv ing  in  urban wards (more than 10000 
res idents) .   

The fo l lowing data * g ives  an ind ica t ion of  the populat ion who fa l l  with in  safeguarding 
procedures  based on the current  def in i t ion of  a  vulnerable  adult .   

Vulnerable  adults  

The safeguarding pol icy  and the 
accompanying procedures  cover  any  
person ,  aged 18 or  over ,  l iv ing  or  
receiv ing care or  serv ices  in  Oxfordshire:  

‘w ho  i s  o r  ma y b e i n  ne e d  o f  c o mmuni ty  
c a r e s e rv i ce s  b y  r e aso n o f  me nt a l  o r  o t her  
d i s a bi l i ty ,  a ge  or  i l l ne s s ’  

And  

‘w ho  i s  o r  may b e una b le  to  t ak e  c a re  o f  
hi m o r  he rs e l f ,  or  una b le  to  pr o te ct  h i m o r  
he r s e l f  a g a i ns t  s i g nif i c a nt  ha r m o r  
e xp l o i tat i o n. ’  

In  2011 /12 ,  a  tota l  of  5 ,355 people  aged 
over  65 received a  socia l  care  serv ice  
funded by  Oxfordshire  County  C ounci l .  
Th is  equates  to  5 .0%  per  cent  of  the 
populat ion of  Oxfordshire  being aged 65 
plus.  

In  2011 /12 ,  a  tota l  of  1327 people  with  a  
learning d isabi l i ty  (aged 18 -64) received a  
socia l  care  serv ice  funded by  Oxfordshire  
county  counci l .  Th is  equate s  to  
appro ximately  0 .33 per  cent  of  the 
populat ion of  Oxfordshire  aged 18 -64.  

In  2011 /12 ,  a  tota l  of  468 mental  health  
serv ice  users  aged 18 -64 years  received a  
socia l  care  serv ice  funded by  Oxfordshire  
County  Counci l .  Th is  equates  to  
approximately  0 .21%  per  cent  of  the 
populat ion of  Oxfordshire  aged 18 -64.  

In  2011 /12  a  tota l  of  711  people  with  a 
phys ica l  d isabi l i ty  (aged 18 -64) received a  
socia l  care  serv ice  funded by  Oxfordshire  
County  Counci l .  Th is  equates  to  
approximately  0 .18 per  cent  of  the 
populat ion of  Oxfordshire  aged 18 -64.

*  These f igures  exclude people  who wi l l  fund their  own care or  receive informal  support  
f rom fami ly  members  etc.  

Page 19



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Report on last year’s objectives and priorities  

The 201 0-201 1  OSAB Annual  Report  out l ined s ix  pr ior i ty  areas  for  focused work  to  improve 
the outcomes of  serv ice -users .  

1 .  Develop improved responses for  vulnerable  v ict ims of  domest ic  abus e  
2.  Tackl ing  hate cr ime  
3.  Promote better  stan dards  of  care   
4 .  Making sure that  people  are  able  to  manage their  own care wi thout r isk  of  abuse or  

neglect  
5.  Having safe  places  for  people  to  go i f  they  feel  bul l ied  or  harassed  
6.  Working to  ensure that  people  are  treat ed with  d ignity  and respect  when they  need 

care.  

Develop improved responses for vulnerable victims of domestic abuse  

Domestic  abuse af fects  1  in  4  women a nd 1  in 6  men in  their  l i fet ime.  Those af fected 
endure r isk  to  their  emotional  wel lbeing,  behaviour ,  atta inment and long -term l i fe  
chances.  Invar iably ,  those ind iv iduals  who exper ience domest ic  abuse have myr iad  needs,  
with ‘adults  at  r i sk /vulnerable  adults ’  m aking up the populat ion of  people  who suffer  
domest ic  abuse.    

Domest ic  abuse is  def ined by  the government as :  

‘A ny  i nc i de nt  of  t hr ea t e ni ng b e ha vio ur ,  v i o le nce  o r  a b use  (p sy c ho log i ca l ,  p hy s ic a l ,  s e xua l ,  
f i na nc i a l  o r  emo t io na l)  b et w ee n a d ult s  who  a r e  o r  ha ve  b e e n int i ma te  p ar t ne rs  o r  fami ly  
me mb e rs ,  r eg a r d le ss  o f  ge nd e r o r  s e xua l it y ’   

Th is  inc ludes issues  of  concern to black  and minor i ty  ethnic  (BME)  communit ies  such as  
so  ca l led  'honour  based v io lence' ,  female  genit a l  muti lat ion (FGM) and forced marr iage.  

In  2007,  a  prevalence study  on e lder  abuse undertaken by  the Department of  Health  and 
Comic Rel ief  est imated that  227 ,000 o lder  people  had been neglected or  abused in  their  
own homes in  the previous  year  and that  do mest ic  v io lence accounted for  a  s ignif icant  
proport ion of  that  f igure.  Women with  disabi l i t ies  are  part ic ular ly  vulnerable  to  abuse ;  
research  has  shown that  d isabled women exper ience abu se at  least  twice as  often as  non -
d isabled women.  Abusers ,  inc luding p ersonal  ass istants  (P.A’s)  and carers ,  may explo it  a  
woman's  part icular  condit ion or  impairment.  There are  addit ional  barr iers  that  vulnerable  
adults  must  overcome,  for  example,  a  substant ia l ly  less  pro vis ion than that  avai lable  
proport ional ly  to  non -d isabled women is  accompanied by  a  greater  need for  such focused  
and specia l i st  serv ic es  (James -Hanman,  1994;  Magowan 2003,  2004) .  

Page 20



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Any  adult  at  r i sk  of  domest ic  abuse should  be able  to  acces s  
support  which enables  them to  l ive  a  l i fe  f ree f rom v io lence 
and abuse.  

The Oxfordshire  Domest ic  Abuse Stra te gy  Group  (ODASG) and 
the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board (OSAB)  are  working 
together  to  ident i fy  and promote best  pract ice  in  Oxfordshire  
for  the support  of  adults  at  r i sk /vulnerable  adults  who are  
suffer ing  domest ic  and sexual  abuse.  T his  work  has  
encompassed research ;  data  analys is ;  and,  a  workshop in which 
delegates  f rom a range of  agencies  ident i f ied  gaps and barr iers  
in  current  provis ion and h ighl ighted some ways to  overcome 
these gaps and barr iers .  

Recomm endat ions  

·  Ensure that  c lear  pr otocols  with  the lead author i ty  and partner  organisat ions  are  in  
place to  inc lude referra l  pathways,  monitor ing and rev iew arrangements  (Local  
Government Improvement and Development,  2010) .  

·  I ssues  in  re lat ion to d iscr iminat ion and lack  of  understanding of  the needs of  
vulnerable  people  in  access ing and us ing serv ices  for  v ict ims of  domest ic  abuse need 
to  be addressed .  

·  The needs of  o lder  or  d isabled v ict ims should  be taken into  account when 
developing/provid ing inf ormation .  

·  Addit ional  vulnerabi l i ty  and r isk  as  a result  of  age,  i l lness  or  d isabi l i ty  needs to  be 
taken into  account in  assessment .   

·  Access  to  serv ices  f or  v ict ims of  domest ic  abuse who have mobi l i ty  or  support  needs 
to  be taken into  account .  

·  Id en t i f ic at ion  of  c lear  pr ac t ic e  l in ks  between  M ult i -A g enc y P ubl ic  Pr otec t ion  
A rr an g emen ts  (MAPPA ),  Mult i  Agency  Risk  Assessment Conferences ( MARAC ),  
Safeguarding Adults and Domest ic  Abuse meetings  and Boards .  

What have we done?  

·  Shared part - t ime post  between Safeguardi ng Adults  Team and Safer  Communit ies  Unit  
work ing on a l igning adult  socia l  care  with  domest ic  abuse ag enda -  secondment 
completed.  Addit ional  secondment opportunity  with  the Independent Domest ic  
V io lence Advisor  ( IDVA )  serv ice  is  being considered by  Adult  Socia l  Care .  

·  Improved partnerships  l inks  with  the Oxfordshire  Domest ic  Abuse Stra tegy  Group 
(ODASG) .   

·  Ear ly  intervent ion:  The Domest ic  Abuse C hampion Network  has  been  further  
developed to  include people  who work  with  vulnerable  adults .  Th is  network  of  
tra ined,  supported and resourced pract i t ioners  across  a  range of  agencies  i s  
committed to  support ing v ict ims of  domest ic  abus e across  Oxfordshire.  At  present  

Page 21



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

there are  approximately  600 Champions in  around 60 agencies/organisat ions,  
del iver ing  a  wide range of  serv ices.  Br ing ing  safeguarding adults  i ssues  to  th is  
network  has  improved the understanding of  the needs of  vulnerable  people  and 
provided a  platform to  d iscuss  complex cases.  This  improved information shar ing and 
increased understan di ng helps  to  reduce d iscr iminat ion  where i t  may  exist .   

·  Resources  develope d by  ODASG and OSAB have been improved  to  increase  the 
awareness  of  the needs of  vulnerable  adults  who exper ience  domest ic  abuse.   

·  High r isk :  3  Designated  Mult i  Agency  Risk  Assessment Conferences  (MARAC)  Off icers  
(DMOs) tra ined in  Adult  Socia l  Care .  

·  Pol icy ,  procedure and pr act ice:  The use of  the D omest ic  Abuse,  Sta lk ing,  Harassment 
and Honour  Based Vio lence (D ASH)  r isk  assessment being extended throughout Adult  
Socia l  Care;  do mest ic  homicide rev iew c losely  a l igned with  the OSAB Ser ious  Case 
Review ( SCR)  protocol .  

·  Tra in ing :  Domest ic  Abuse and Safeguarding Adult s  tra in ing is  more c losely  a l igned .  
·  An act ion plan  is  in  place and  wi l l  be monitored by  the Oxfordshire  Domest ic  Abuse 

Strategy  Group (ODASG)  and the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board.  

Tackling hate crime 

A web-based report ing  and recording system in  key  agencies  was introduced in  four  p i lot  
areas  across  Oxfordshire  as  the f i rst  part  of  the Hate Cr ime Strategy  for  the c ounty .  This  
work  has  been led  by  the Community  Safety  Serv ice .  

I t  wi l l  contr ibute to  ful f i l l ing  leg is lat ive  requirements,  under  the 2010  Equal i ty  Act,  for  
publ ic  bodies  to  provide serv ices  for  report ing  and recording hate cr ime inc idents  and 
cr imes,  other  than to  the pol ice.  However,  the pol ice  are  key  and support ive  partners .  
The work  is  coordinated under  the MANTRA Chal lenging Harassment and Discr iminat ion 
brand.  

The report ing,  recording and support ing system wi l l  help to  inform us  about the 
prevalence,  n at ure and impact  of  hate cr ime in  Oxfordshire.  In  part icular ,  hat e cr ime 
motivated by  Race,  Rel ig ion and/or Bel ief ,  D isabi l i ty ,  Sexual  Or ientat ion and Trans -gender  
wi l l  be  addressed.   

The impact  of  hate cr ime can be severe,  inc luding fear ,  i solat ion and ph ys ica l  and mental  
harm and i t  can ser iously  affect  ch i ldren.  Under -report ing  is  a  universal  i ssue.  

Page 22



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Promote better standards of care  

· Abuse in Domiciliary Care 

Domici l iary  care  is  provided to  people  who st i l l  l ive  in  their  own homes but  need 
addit ional  supp ort  with  household tasks,  personal  care  or  any  other  act iv i ty  that  a l lows 
them to  mainta in  their  independence and qual i ty  of  l i fe .  There are  approximately  1800 
domici l iary  care  packages set  up and funded by  Oxfordshire  County  Counci l /Oxford 
Health.   

A  year - long inquiry  into  the home care system in  England,  conducted by  the Equal i ty  and 
Human Rights  Commiss ion uncovered  ev idence of  poor  treatment of  many o lder  people.  
The f inal  report ,  C lose to  Home (2011) ,  revealed  ' s e r i o us ,  sy st e mic  t hre a ts  t o t he  b a s ic  
huma n r i g ht s  o f  o ld er  p eo p le  w ho  a re  ge tt i ng  ho me c ar e  s e r vic e s .  In  Oxfordshire,  just  over  
30% of  concerns  re lat ing  to  the abuse,  mistreatment or  neglect  of  a  vulnerable  adult  by  a  
paid  worker  re late  to  domici l iary  care  workers  (excluding people  with  a  lear ning 
d isabi l i ty) .  The safeguarding team has  worked to  mit igate  against  such concerns .  

What have we done?   

·  Two ful l - t ime adult  protect ion leads focusing on abuse in  care.  
·  Bi -monthly  r isk  assessment reports  base d on analys is  of  adult  protect ion a lerts  and 

co mplaints  provided by  safeguarding adults ’  team manager  to  OCC contract ing team.  
·  Intel l igence lead focused invest igat ions  and act ions  to  support  the development  of  

less  wel l  performing provider  serv ices .  
·  Establ ished good jo int  work ing between adult  protect ion and specia l i st  safeguarding 

serv ices  e .g .  medic ines  management .  

Next  Steps & Recommendat ions  

·  A further  three  ful l - t ime local i ty  adult  protect ion leads to  be recruited in  
spr ing/summer 2012  

·  Late/missed v is i ts  strategy .  

· Abuse in residential care and residential nursing homes 

The neglect  of  vulnerable  adults  in  res ident ia l  care  and nurs ing homes has  emerged as  a n  
important  i ssue nat ional ly .  ' Tho se  a t  g rea t e st  r is k  o f  a b us e  ap pe a r  to  be  o ld e r  wome n,  
t ho s e  l i v i ng  i n  a  c a r e  ho me  a nd t ho se  w ho  ha ve  a  l o ng  t e r m i l lne s s  (part icular ly  dementia) . ’  
(Beadle -Brown et  a l ,  2006) .   

Page 23



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Oxfordshire experience 
Safeguarding adult  referra ls  received about inc idents  of  abuse occurr ing  in  care  and 
nurs ing homes (excluding people  with  a  learning d isabi l i ty) .   

Frequency of  abuse 

 

Type of  abuse experienced   

 

I t  i s  important  that  the care  needs of  the populat ion  of  Oxfordshire  are  protected.  

What  have we done?   

·  Two ful l - t ime adult  protect ion leads focusing  on abuse in  care.  
·  Bi -monthly  r isk  assessment reports  base d on analys i s  of  adult  protect ion and a lerts  

and compla ints  provided by  safeguarding adults ’  team manager  to  OCC contract ing 
team.  

·  Intel l igence lead focused invest igat ions  and act ions  to  support  the development of  
less  wel l  performing provider  serv ices.  

Page 24



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

·  Establ ished go od jo int  work ing between adult  protect ion and specia l i st  safeguarding 
serv ices  e .g .  medic ines  management;  t i ssue v iabi l i ty  etc.  

·  Oxfordshire  Health  Economy Pressure Ulcer  Strategy  to  standardise  report ing  and 
management of  i ssues  re lat ing  to  sk in  breakdown across  the health  economy in a l l  
aspects  of  care .  

·  Oxfordshire  Care Homes Support  Serv ice  to  support  the develop ment of  nurs ing and 
care standards  in  Oxfordshire .  

·  Close l ia ison and communicat ion shar ing with  the Care Qual i ty  Commiss ion.  
·  Focused  work in  re lat ion to  meeting the needs repeat  perp etrators  who are  a lso  

vulnerable  adults .   

Next  Steps & Recommendat ions  

·  A further  3  ful l - t ime local i ty  adult  protect ion leads to  be recruited in  spr ing/summer 
2012 .  

·  Oxford Health  Support  to  Res ident ia l  and Nurs ing Homes Pro ject  
·  Extend focus of  preventing repeat  abus e by  other  vulnerable  adults .  
·  Increase jo int  work ing and information shar ing between safeguarding adults  team and 

Care Home Support  Serv ice .  

· Safeguarding people with limited or no capacity  

In  Oxf ordshire  we operate a  jo int  super v isory  body  off ice  for  Depr ivat ion of  L iberty  
Safeguards  (DOLS) .   A l l  requests  for  DOLS author isat ions  are  received by  the DOLS team 
in  Oxfordshire  County  Counci l .   A  team of  40 Best  Interests  Assessors  (BIA)  complete  
assessments  on a  rota  system in  both care homes and hospita l  sett ings.   They  are  
employed by  the County  Counci l ,  Oxford Health  NHS Foundation Trust  and Ridgeway 
Partnership and we have representa t ive s  f rom al l  4  profess ional  areas  set  out  in  the 
Regulat ions  -  socia l  work,  occupat ional  therapy,  nurs ing and psychology.   

DOLS medical  assessors  are  employed by  Oxford Health  NHS Foundation Trust ,  Oxford 
Univers i ty  Hospita ls  NHS Trust  and Ridgeway Partnership.  

The DOLS manager  scrut in ises  a l l  assess ments  completed by the assessors  to  ensure 
compl iance with  legis lat ion,  statutory  guidance and case law,  and author isat ions  are  
granted by  senior  off icers  of  the County  Counci l  with  responsibi l i ty  for  Adult  Socia l  Care -  
operat ions,  or  senior  off icers  of  the PCT.   

The DOLS m anager  is  a lso  avai lable  to  advise  health  and socia l  care  profess ionals  on 
issues  of  capacity  and best  interests  de cis ion making.   Guidance is  avai lable  on the 
Oxfordshire  County  Counci l  publ ic  website  and the Safe f rom Harm website.  

We have recently  forme d a  DOLS subgroup to  the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board.   
The members  represent  partner  agencie s  with  responsibi l i ty  for  DOLS including managing 

Page 25



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

author i t ies  (hospita l  trusts  and care homes) ,  the superv isory  bodies,  a  BIA,  a  medical  
assessor ,  the Ind ependent Mental  Capacity  Advocate ( IMCA)  serv ice  and the Mental  
Health  trust .   Agenc ies  are  s ignator ies  to  a  Jo int  Oxfordshire  Pol icy  on the Mental  
Capacity  Act  2005 and have agreed to  standardise  the format of  mental  capacit y  
assessments  to  ass i st  consist ency.  

Making sure that people are able to manage their own care without risk 
of abuse or neglect  

Increasing people's  choice  and control  and ensur ing services  are  safe  

Self -D irected Support  puts  what i s  important  to  the person at  the centre  of  a l l  decis ion  
making.  Based on the ind iv idual 's  needs which have been ident i f ied  in  their  assessment,  
each person is  a l located a  personal  budget to  arrange their  support  with.  The person wi l l  
then have the opt ion of  receiv ing a  “d irect  payment” to  pur chase the sup port  t hey  need 
or  having someone to  manage th is  on their  behalf  a  ‘managed account’ .  

In  i ts  restructur e Oxfordshire  County  Counci l  has  reta ined a  h igher  percentage of  socia l  
workers  than many local  author i t ies .  Socia l  Workers  remain at  the heart  of  complex 
soci a l  care  assessments.  A l l  safeguarding work  is  completed by  a  socia l  worker.  

Having safe places for people to go if they feel bullied or harassed 

The f i rst  S a fe r  P lac es  scheme was pi loted in  Devon and Cornwal l  by  the South Devon and 
Dartmoor Community  Safet y  Partnership.  I t  a imed to stop the bul ly ing  and abuse of  
ind iv iduals  with  learning d isabi l i t ies  and other  vulnerable  pe ople.   Several  other  areas  are  
now operat ing S a fe r  P la c es  schemes.  

Drivers  for Safer  Places  

·  Increase in  vulnerable  people  l iv ing  in  the community  
·  Partnership encoura gement for  communit ies  and publ ic  sect or  to  work  together  –  B ig  

Society  
·  Need to  f ind  gener ic ,  low -cost  prevention serv ices  for  vulnerable  person  
·  Need to  reduce the percep tion of  cr im e and make people  feel  safer  in  their  community  

How a Safer  Places  scheme works  

Local  shops,  bus inesses  and agencies  d isplay  a  br ight ly  co loured st icker  to  ident i fy  that  
they  are  part  of  the scheme and can offer  help to  someone who may be in  d istress.    

The vulnerable  pers on s igned up to  the scheme carr ies  a  card  d isplay ing the same logo as  
the st icker ,  their  na me and phone numbers  of  someone that they  trust ;  for  example a  
fami ly  member  or  a  support  worker .  

Page 26



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Members  of  staff  in the S a fe r  P lac e  have receive d tra in ing ( in -depth scheme),  or  they  
have a  resource pac k  ( l ight -touch scheme)  and wi l l  enable  the vulnerable  pers on to  
contact  someone,  or  ca l l  author i t ies  as  appropr iate.  

The responsibi l i ty  to  report  inc idents  remains  with  the vulnerable  ind iv idual  and not  with  
the S a fe r  P lac e s  locat ion.   

S a fe r  P lac es  are  a  place of  temporary  refuge f rom harassment,  bul ly ing  or  worse;  a  S afe r  
P la c e s  should  only  be used i f  a  vulnerable  person requires  help in  contact ing a  carer /  
support  worker  or  support  agency,  i f  they  are  lost ,  feel  d istressed  or  have been a  v ict im 
of  some sort  of  harassment or  cr iminal  of fence .  

Oxfordshire  Safer  Places  scheme proposal   

·  Develop a  safer  places  steer ing group  to  develop local  re lat ionships  
·  Bui ld  understanding in  the local i ty  and ident i fy  and engage with  local  bus inesses  
·  Work with  OSAB to  ensure work  is  connected  
·  Connect  with  local  bus inesses  
·  Involve serv ice  users ,  fami l ies  and communit ies  
·  Pi lot  two schemes in  Banbury  and Oxford  
·  Inc lude development of  Safer  P laces  in  OSAB strategy  

Work to ensure that people are treated with dignity and respect when 
they need care. 

“D i g ni ty  is  se e i ng  me ,  t he  p e rs o n.  Res pec t i ng a nd  va l u i ng  me a s  a n  e qua l .  Me et i ng  my  ne ed s  
and  l i st e ni ng t o me .  He lp i ng  me  to  ha ve the  l i fe  I  wa nt ,  w ha teve r  my  c hal le ng es ”  

Dignity  in  Care  became a  subgroup of  the Safeguarding Adults  Board  in  March 2011 .  In  
th is  short  t ime the group have made great  str ides  to  meet the fo l lowing pr ior i t ies :   

·  Food,  nutr i t ion and hydrat ion appropr iate  for  ind ividuals  
·  Improve the way  people  are  received into  hospita l  
·  Communicat ions  e.g.  d ignity  champions newsletter ,  d ignity  in  care  awards judged by  

serv ice  users  and ca rers  
·  Performance f ramework,  benchmark ing and key  performance indicators  

Achievements   

·  Dignif ied  gowns in  hospita l  
·  Information on speci f ic  n eeds of  indiv iduals  
· Serv ice  users  and ca rers  and the LINk tra ined to  support  qu al i ty  monitor ing of  serv ices
·  Dignity  workshops for  serv ice  providers  
·  First  ‘d ignity  in  care’  awards ceremony  

Page 27



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

·  Support  to  the Dignity  champions network  
·  Performance f ramework for measur ing d ignity  
·  Secured senior  management buy - in  to  programmes of  change across  the leading 

statu tory  sector  ca re  bodies   
·  Del ivery  of  tra in ing for  serv ice  providers ,  care  managers  and staff .  

Training, development and awareness raising 

The Board has  conducted a  range of  act iv i t ies  to :  

1 .  Ensur e that  a l l  staf f  are  wel l  tra ined and work  together  to  protect  people  f rom harm.  
2 .  Ensure that  a l l  peop le  know how to  ra ise  concerns  i f  they  are  at  r i sk  of  or  are  being 

harmed in  some way .  

The Board tra in ing sub group meet quart er ly  to  rev iew the tra in ing being del ivered by  
agencies  and to  ensure i t  meets  the OSAB competency  f ramework .  Data  is  co l lected f rom 
al l  agencies  to  measure the percen tage of  staff  tra ined ( 2011 -2012  are  f igures  not  yet  
avai lable ) .  S igni f icant  de velopments  are:  

·  Fire  and Rescue Serv ice  have tra ined 91% of  f ront  l ine  off icers  in  Adult  Safeguarding.  
·  Oxford Health  has  commenced a  programme of  jo int  ch i ld  protect ion and adult  

safeguarding tra in ing,  result ing  in  a  more cost  ef fect ive  use of  staff  t ime.  
·  In i t ia l  d iscuss ions  have begun to  look at  a  jo int  ch i ld  protect ion and adult  

safeguarding  e- learning package for  use by  The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Chi ldrens 
Board and The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Chi ldrens Board.  

·  A quarter ly  standar disat ion meeting supp orts  safeguarding tra iners  across  
Oxfordshire  to  keep information and sk i l l s  up to  date.  Al l  tra in ing packages are  
measured against  the competency  f ramework.  The group has 41  members.  The 
Development and Information Off icer  has  carr ied  out  qual i t y  assuranc e observat ions  
of  tra in ing,  where agencies  have requir ed th is .  

·  Fourteen mult i -agency  tra in ing sess ions  were del ivered across  the county  with  one 
hundred and seventy  f ive  attendees.  Due to  the number  of  attendees at  ea ch sess ion 
the programme wi l l  be reduce d for  2012 -2013  to ten sess ions.  The current  c l imate of  
change in  organisat ions  may have impacted on engagement with  the mult i -agency  
sess ion.  

·  Continual  Profess ional  Development workshops were run for  safeguarding managers:  
topics  were Domest ic  Abuse,  F ina ncia l  A buse,  Safeguarding and the Law,  Mental  
Capacity  and Safeguarding.  

·  Safeguarding information sess ions  del ivered to :   D istr ict  Counci l  Housing,  Advocacy  
Serv ices  and Oxfordshire  Rural  Communit ies .  

Page 28



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

·  A Dignity  workshop has  been held  with  provider  managers .    
·  A dedicated safeguarding tra in ing resource is  avai lable  on the Safe f rom Harm  

website.   
·  A range of  resources  avai lable  to  be use d by  the publ ic  and profess ionals  are  avai lable  

to  download on the Safe f rom  Harm website.  
·  The Chal lenge of  Empowering Adults  at  R isk  event -  Mult i -ag ency  event  to  provide a  

forum for mult i -agency  network ing  and looking at  the chal lenges for  profess ionals  
involved in  safeguarding.    

Good Pract ice:  Oxfordshire  F ire  and Rescue Service   

As part  of  their  commitment to  membership of  the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  
Board  (OSAB) and Oxfordshire  Chi ldren’s  Safeguarding Board  (OCSB) ,  Oxfordshire  F ire  
and Rescue Service  inc luded,  in  their  Integrated Risk  Management  Planning  2011 /12  
Act ion Plan,  the requirement for  a l l  f ront  l ine  off icers  to  attend safeguarding adults  and 
chi ld  protect ion tra in ing.  Working a longside the tra in ing leads for  
both OSAB and OSCB a  tra in ing package was developed to be 
del ivered b y  the F i re  and Resc ue Serv ic es  Risk  Reduct ion Team 
coordinator  and Assistant  Administrat ive  Serv ices  Manager.  The 
tra in ing was del ivered to  each F i re  Watch in  Oxfordshire,  a  tota l  of  
620 staff  have been tra ined to  date which is  91% of  the tota l  number  
or ig inal ly  ident i f ied.   A  plan is  in  place to  del iver  tra in ing to the 
remain ing s ixty  staff .   

The tra in ing sess ion was not  off ic ia l ly  evaluated but  the tra iners  
bel ieve that  in  most  cases  i t  was v iewed posit ively  by  delegates.  Concerns  were ra ised by  
some off i cers  in  re lat ion to  their  standing in  the communit ies ,  as  they  both work  and l ive  
in  an area.  They  fe lt  ra is ing  a  concern fol lowing attendance at  an inc ident  may have a  
detr imental  ef fect  on their  re lat ionships  with  members  of  the community ,  as  indiv iduals  
would  eas i ly  ident i fy  who had ra ised the concern.   However  there is  no  ev idence to  show 
that  th is  has  af fected a lerts  being ra ised.   

The tra in ing programme commenced in August  2011  and,  as  ident i f ied  above,  the f inal  
sess ions  are  now planned to  ensure 100 % compl iance.  The f igures  provided by  F ire  and 
Rescue Serv ic e  ident i fy  that  in  2011 ,  e ight  safeguarding concerns  were ra ised by  F i re  and 
Rescue in  re lat ion t o  vulnerable  adults .  From 1st  January  2012  to  13th  May 2012  a  tota l  of  
twenty  a lerts  have been ra is ed.  Whi lst  not  a l l  twenty  have resulted in  a  safeguarding 
a lert ,  a l l  concerns  were appropr iately  ra ised and referred to appl icable  serv ices  where 
necessary .  

In i t ia l ly  the serv ice  had l i tt le  feedback fo l lowing the referrals ,  but  th is  app ears  to  have 
improve d.  I t  was emphasised that  receiv ing feedback,  whi lst  recognis ing  the need for 
data  protect ion,  i s  a  key  factor  in  conf idence to  ra ise  concerns  in  the future.   

Page 29



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

This  pro ject  ev idences the posit ive  af fect  of  safeguarding awareness  tra in ing in teams,  
outs ide o f  the socia l  and health  care  context,  who have contact  with  vulnerable  people  
and is  a  model  that  can be used to  inform future development of  tra in ing strategies.    

Future developments: 

·  Considerat ion needs to  be g iven to  how agencies  are  measur ing the effe ct iveness  of  
tra in ing.   

·  Increase the a vai labi l i ty  of  a  gener ic  e - learning package for the increas ing number  of  
community/voluntary  agencies  requir ing  safeguarding adults  tra in ing.  

·  C ontinuing Profess ional  Development (CPD)  workshops  planned for  2012 -2013  are:  
Sel f -  Neglect  ( th is  i s  a  cross  county  event  with  Buck inghamshire  and Mi l ton Keynes) ,  
Pressure Care,  Role  of  the Court  of  Protect ion,  Personal isat ion and Safeguarding.  

·  In  l ine  with  personal izat ion,  the Board needs  to  ensure  that  serv ice  users  know how to  
ra ise  concerns.  Work  with  agencies  to  develop resources  or  adapt exist ing  resou rces.   

·  There is  a  D ignity  pro ject  proposal  to  measure effect ivenes s  of  D ignit y  workshops on  
the  qual i ty  of  care.  

 

Page 30



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

3. Delivery, performance and resources 
This  theme looks  at  serv ice  del ivery ,  the effect iveness  of  pract ice  and how the 
performance and resources  of  the serv ice,  inc luding i ts  people  are  managed .  

Delivery  

Adult  protect ion refers  to  invest igat ion and intervent ion where i t  i s  suspec ted t hat  harm 
may have occurred as  a  result  of  abuse or  neglect  of  a  vulnerable  person or  adult  at  r i sk .  

Adult  Socia l  Care,  Oxfordshire  County  Counci l ,  have an enhanced duty  to  invest igate 
adult  protect ion cas es  or  cause an invest igat ion to  be made by  other  agencies.  

The Oxfordshire  County  Counci l  Socia l  and Health  Care Team is  the contact  point  for  a l l  
safeguarding a lerts  and enquir ies .  The unit  handles  more than 100,000 te lephone cal ls  
per  year ,  as  wel l  as  letters ,  emai ls  and faxes.  I ts  a im is  to  respond to  customer  needs 
quick ly  and ensu res  that  they  are  d i rect ed to  the place most  appropr iate  to  the ir  needs.   

A l l  OSAB member  organisat ions  have specia l i st  safeguarding leads whose ro le  is  to  
develop adult  safeguarding with in their  organisat ions.  

The centra l  safeguarding adults  team provides  a  dedicated safeguarding funct ion 
operat ing independently  of  pract i t ioners  but  cont inuing to  provide support  and chal lenge 
to  adult  socia l  care.  This  provides  senior profess ional  leadership with  a  cont inuing 
support  and development funct ion in  re lat ion to  both adult  protect ion leads with in  
local i t ies  and the broader  safeguarding information and development needs of  adult  
socia l  care  teams.  

Cases  are  managed by  a l l  local i ty  teams with  the safeguarding adults /vulnerable  adult  
protect ion team tak ing speci f ic  responsibi l i ty  for  abuse in  care  cases.  

The current  safeguarding adults  team consists  of :  

•  1  f te  Unit  Manager  

•  0 .6  f te  OSAB administrator  

•  2  f te  Senior  Pract i t ioner  

• 1  f te  dedicated Safeguarding Adults  Board Development and Information Off icer

•  1  f te  adult  protect ion administrator  

Page 31



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

To increase the team’s  capacity ,  3  addit ional  ful l - t ime Local i ty  Adult  Protect ion posts  are  
to  be establ ished in  2012.  

Systems and referral routes  

While  information shar ing between teams and agencies  has demonstrated s ignif i cant  
improvement in  re lat ion to  ident i fy ing r isks  to  ‘adults  at  r i sk ’  some chal lenges  remain :  

Information regarding r isk  in  re lat ion to potent ia l  perpetra t ors  and ‘adults  at  r isk ’  i s  held  
on mult ip le  systems,  e .g .  adult  socia l  care,  mental  health,  learning  d isabi l i ty ,  ch i ldren 
etc.  The work  of  the Board therefore has  been to  ensure th at  despite  d i f ferent  systems ,  
information is  st i l l  shared  so  that   people  are  safeguarded effect ively .     

To  mit igate against  the r isks  of  having mult ip le  systems ,  work  has  bee n completed to  
improve  information shar ing and access  to  systems :    

·  A recent  development a l lows staff  us ing the chi ldren's  syste m to  look up information 
held  in  the adults  system (without having to  access  the adults  system)  

·  There  is  ongoing work  to  improve access  to  the e lectronic  p at ient  record system RiO 
·  Oxford Health  NHS Foundation Trust  has  launched a  new serv ice,  the S ingle  Point  of  

Access  (SPA),  which provides  GPs and other  healthcare profess ionals  with  a  quick  and 
easy  way of  referr ing  pat ients  to  the Trust ’s  community  health  serv ices  e .g .  
community  therapy  and community  nursing.  This  new  serv ice  can be used for  any  
referr a l  to  community  health  serv ices.  

·  Data recording has  been improved though the provis ion of  t ra in ing in  the use of  Adult  
Socia l  Care systems,  which has  been g iven  or  i s  in  the process  of  being g iven to  a l l  
work ing age and o lder  adult  Mental  Health  Teams -  inc luding safeguarding recording 
tra in ing.   

·  Final ly ,  the County Counci l  has  just  procured a  'Secure F i le  Shar ing'  so lut ion that  wi l l  
make shar ing sensit ive  and restr icted information outs ide the organisat ion much 
eas ier  and  therefore wi l l  improve information shar ing between the County  Counci l  and 
partner  organisat ions.  

Serious Case Review 

The Ser ious  Case R eview subgroup has  not  conducted any  Ser ious  Case Review.  However,  
the subgroup has  conducted Partnership  Reviews to  lea rn f rom Ser ious  Inc idents ,  
s igni f icant  safeguarding events  and Ser ious  Case Reviews in other  regions.  

Page 32



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Winterbourne View 

On 31  May 2011 ,  the BBC a i red a  Panorama programme where pat ients  were su bjected to  
horr i f ic  treatment and abuse at  Winterb ourne View Ho spita l ,  Br isto l ,  owned and run by  
Cast lebeck.  As  a  res ult  of  th is  several  members  of  staff  were arrested and the hospita l  
has  been c losed down.  Fo l lowing the broadcast  several  str ands of  rev iew have been 
carr ied  out.  Local ly ,  a  ser ious  inc ident  rev iew and a  rev iew of  commiss ioning have been 
undertaken.  These wi l l  be  considered as  a  part  of  the nat ional  Ser ious  Inc ident  rev iew 
and rev iew of  commiss ioning.  Also being undertaken is :  a  cr iminal  invest igat ion,  a  
Cast lebeck  internal  rev iew,  a  G loucester shire  safe guarding rev iew and a  programme of  
CQC invest igat ions  and inspect ions.   

Oxfordshire  had three pat ients  a t  Winte rbourne View and,  as  a  result ,  was requi red to  
conduct  an invest igat ion in  l ine  with  the Ser ious  Inc idents  Requir ing  Invest igat ion  (SIRI)  
process  into  the commiss ioning arrangements  at  the t ime of  plac ing these pat ients  at  
Winterbourne View.   

The purpose and remit  of  the local  invest igat ion was:  

·  To establ ish  the facts  and whether  there were any  fa i l ings  in  the commiss ioning 
process  around the placements  of  the Oxfordshire  pat ients ;  

·  To ident i fy  any  lessons to  be learned and create an act ion plan to  be implemented to  
prevent rec urrence;  

·  The invest igat ion d id  not  ident i fy  any  ser ious  pract ice  fa i l ings.  I t  d id ident i fy  some 
important  learning point s .  These were:  the need for  c lar if icat ion of  the process  for  
out  of  county  placements,  and the need for  improvements  in  the qual i ty  assura nce and 
monitor ing process  for  placements.  An act ion plan has  been agreed between OCC and 
Oxfordshire  PCT with  the a im  of  improving commiss ioning processes.  

I t  i s  l ike ly  that  events  at  Winterbourne View wi l l  lead to  an increased awareness  and 
report ing  of  i ssues  re lat ing  to  safeguarding and learning d isabi l i t ies .  

An act ion plan has  been put  in  place in  response to  i nvest i gat ion into  placements  at  
Winterbourne View.  A steer ing group involv ing key  managers,  serv ice  user s  and c arer s  
has  been  establ ishe d to  oversee del ivery  of  act ion plan.  The Ser ious  Case Review 
subgroup (SCR)  is  mainta in ing an overv iew of  th is  work  to  help e nsure that  lear ning is  
d isseminated.  

Buckinghamshire Serious Case Review  

During February  2010,  the d ismembered body of  70 year  o ld  Mr C  was found under  
concrete in  the back  garden of  h is  home.  In  September  2010,  Mr  C ’s  son,  who was a  22  
year  o ld  undergraduate,  was found gui l ty  of  h is  father ’s  murder .  The Thames Val ley  
Pol ice  had become concerned that  between August  2008 and February  2009,  when a l l  

Page 33



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

contact  with  th is  o lder  man had ceased,  neither  the NHS nor  Adult  Socia l  Care ra ised 
concerns  about M r C  who was a  D irect  Payments  Recipient.  In  the absence of  information 
to  the contrary ,  both Adult  Socia l  Care and the support  agency  commiss ioned to  support  
a l l  D i rect  Payments  Recipients  bel iev ed that  Mr  C  employed Personal  Ass istants .  
However,  the pol ic e  were unable  to  trace them.  Also,  i t  has  become subsequ ent ly  
apparent  tha t  Mr  C ’s  son might  have fa l len  with in  the statu tory  def in i t ion of  a carer  but  
there is  no  ev idence that  he had been recognised as  such by  e i ther  the NHS or  Adult  
Socia l  Care.  

About  t h is  Ser ious Case Review (SCR)  

A Ser ious  Case Review was commiss ioned by  Buck inghamshire’s  Adult  Safeguarding Board 
and was based on information f rom:  

·  Buckinghamshire  County  Counci l ,  Adult  Socia l  Care  
·  Milton Keynes Hospita l  NHS Foundation Trust  
·  NHS Bedfords hire  and  
·  Oxford Radcl i ffe  Hospita ls  NHS Trust .  
·  A Detect ive  who contr ibuted to  the pol ice  invest igat ion and murder  tr ia l  shared 

ins ights  f rom both procedures.  

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board mainta ined an overv iew of  the 
Buckinghamshire  Ser ious  Ca se Review (publ ished in  May 2011) .  Th is  i s  because i t  was the 
f i rst  Ser ious  Case Review focuss ing on somebody in  receipt  of  D irect  Payments  and i t  was 
important  that  Oxfordshire  learned lessons f rom the outcomes of  the rev iew.  

I ssues  ident if ied   

·  Monitor ing  of  D irect  Payments  
·  Assessment & rev ie w process  
·  Importance of  h istory  
·  Hospita l  d ischarge arrangements  
·  Carers  Assessments  
·  Lack  of  mult i -agency  d iscuss ion  
·  Decis ion -making not r isk  assessed  

What are  we doing in  Oxfordshire?  

Every  person in  Oxfordshire  in  receipt  of  a  D irect  Payment has  a  min imum of  an annual  
face-to -face rev iew and i f  the person is  us ing the payment for  secur ing pr ivate serv ices,  a  
6 -monthly  rev iew is  recommended.   When c l ients  are  v is i ted staff  check  whether  there is  
a  carer  or  a  young carer  ( they  may not  always  be present)  and whether  they  need 
support.  Carer 's  ass essments  check  the person's  abi l i ty  to  care.  The f inance team 
monitor spending through Direct  Payments  and send monthly  reports  h ighl ight ing any  
unusual  spending.   

Page 34



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

From 2009 to  2012  the NHS are  running a  p i lot  test ing  the idea of  personal  health  
budgets  with  a  smal l  number  of  people  to  see how i t  could work.  NHS Oxfordshire  i s  
try ing  out  the idea of  personal  health  budgets  by  g iv ing some people  e l ig ible  for  NHS 
continuing healthcare the opportunity  to  have a  personal  health  budget.  The 
recommendations f rom the Buckinghamshire  Ser ious  Case Review have been careful ly  
considered in  the planning and management of  th is  p i lot .  

Monitoring and Quality Assurance 

How the Board have monitor  and evaluate local  adult  safeguarding arrangements   

The Care Qual i ty  Commiss ion,  Essent ia l  Standards  for  Qual i ty  and Safety  set  speci f ic  
outcomes for safeguarding and safety  as  a  requirement for  reg istrat ion.  The Care Qual i ty  
Commiss ion wi l l  take enforcement act ion where serv ices  fa i l  to  comply  with  standards  
and pat ients  are  put  at  r i sk .  

In  Oxfordshire  the centra l  S afeguarding Adults  team  provides  a  dedicated safeguarding 
funct ion operat ing independently  of  pract i t ioners  prov id ing support  and chal lenge to  
adult  socia l  care.   

The cont inued pr ior ity  of  Adult  Safeguarding with in  Adult  Socia l  Care,  Oxfordshire  
County  Counci l  i s  ref lected in  the 2012 -2013 key  qual i ty  measures.  

·  Protect ion :  To  ensure that  serv ices  tha t  are  safe  and v ulnerable  people  are  
safeguarded  

·  Prevent ion :  To  keep people  as  independent as  poss ible  and l iv ing  an ord inary  l i fe  
·  Personal isat ion :  To  provide serv ices  which meet the personal  needs of  c l ients  and 

maximise the control  they  can exerc ise  over  their  l ive  

The safeguarding Board provides  chal lenge and support  through scrut iny  of  performance 
reports ,  inspect ion and audit s .  The Board requests  ass uran ces that  recommendations  
have been acted up on.  

Information obta ined f rom the  NHS Self -Assessment  Qual i ty  & Performan ce Framework 
has  informed the Board.  I t  has  been ident i f ied  that  a  standardized approach to  qual i ty  
assurance wi l l  be  benef ic ia l  to  the Board.  This  i s  an  area of  development to  be taken 
forward in next  year ’s  Bus iness  P lan.  

 

Page 35



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

4. Working together 
This  themes l ooks  at  the ro le  and performance of  the Local  Safeguarding Board and how 
al l  partners  work  together  to  ensure h igh qual i ty  serv ices  and outcomes  

Governance of Adult Safeguarding (Braye et al, 2011) 

The research for  the report  by  Braye  et  a l  (2011) ,  commiss ioned by  the Department of  
Health ,  explored the governance arrangements  for  safeguarding adults .  The f ind ings  
focus  on f ive  key features  of  Safeguarding Adults  Boards:  

1 .  Strategic  goals  and purpose  

2 .  Struct ures  

3 .  Membership  

4.  Board Funct ions  

5 .  Accountabi l i t ies    

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board completed a  se l f -assessment exer c is e  to  
evaluate  their  performance against  the key  features  ident i f ied  by  Braye et  a l  (2011) .  

The posit ive  features  of  the Board include  i ts  establ ished a nd  committed membership;  
the increased prominence  of  the Board  with in  partner  agencies ;  the developed scrut iny  
funct ion  and report ing  mechanisms ;  and,  the expanded remit  through the establ ishment 
of  the Depr ivat ion of  L iberty  Safeguards (DoLS) and the Dignity  in  Care s ubgroups.   

The Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board  (OSAB)  has  members  across  a  range of  
agencies  involved in both prevention and intervent ion .  The Board provides  a  chal lenge 
and scrut iny  funct ion  through the  rout ine i tems:  performance r eport ing;  feedback  f rom 
inspect ions  and a udits ,  dur ing which  assurance that  inspe ct i on reco mmendations  have 
been acted upon is  reques ted;  capaci ty  and organisat ional  c hange;  and  subgroup reports .   

Each core/statutory  board member  organisat ion must  have a  des ignated d i rector  for  the 
implementat ion of  safeguarding adults ’  work  and a  nominated senior  lead representat ive  
on the Safeguarding Adults  Board.  Core/statu tory  board members  must  be suff ic ient ly  
senior  in  their  organizat ions  to  represent  that  organisat ion and make mult i -agency  
agreements.  See par agraph 6  and 7  of  OSAB Terms of  Reference  (appendix  3)  and OSAB 
ro le  descr ipt ion  (appendix  1 )  

The e lected cabinet  member  for  adult  serv ices  i s  a  member  of  the OSAB.  The OSAB Chair  
and Cabinet  member  provide l inks  to the Health  and Wel lbeing Board and the County  

Page 36



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Counci l ’s  scrut iny  funct ion.  Strategic  l inks  with  Community  Safety  through jo int  
membership and as  out l ined in  Community  Safety  Business  plan .  

Each subgroup is  chaired by  a  board member.  Report ing to  the OSAB is  v ia  rout ine 
h ighl ight  reports .  The cooperat ion of  partners  i s  ev idenced by  progress  on act ions.  Other  
forums e.g .  the Safeguarding Leads meeting provide a  forum for  mult i -agency  partners  to  
d iscuss  and scope s i tuat ions  in  d eta i l .  

Mult i -agency  OSAB Pol ic ies  and Procedures  are  in  place  and are  avai lable  on the OSAB 
website  ( www.safefromharm.org.uk ) .  The Board has  a lso worked to  ensure that  
Safeguarding Adults i s  appropr iately  refe rred to  in  other  re levant  pol icy ,  procedure and 
guidance,  e .g .  the local  Domest ic  Homicide Protocol .  

Areas  of  development  have been  h ighl ighted dur ing th is  exerc ise.   

The development of  an OSAB strategy  was ident i f ied  as  a  key  area of  development .  

Report ing mechanisms to  other  Boards  are  in  place but  ther e could  be further  work  to  
develop their  ef f ic iency.  P lans  are  in  place to  establ ish  formal  l inks  with  the newly  
establ ished Health  and Wel lbeing Partnership Board  and a protocol  i s  being drafted 
between the OSAB and the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Chi ldrens Board.  

Currently ,  engagement with  serv ice  use rs  and carers  i s  through the l inks  and work  of  
ind iv idual  members.  The need to  improve engagement with  people  who use serv ices  has  
been h ighl ighted as  an  area of  development.   

These areas  of  development wi l l  be  d iscussed in  deta i l  at  the Board Business  P lanning 
day,  p lanned in  June 20 1 2.  Fo l lowing th is ,  a  Board Business  P lan wi l l  be  wr itten to  outl ine 
the proposals  for  address ing the areas  of  development a nd pr ior i t ies  for  2012 -2013 .  

Priorities for 2012  

Through a  combinat ion of  presentat ions,  d iscuss ion and group work  the attendees of  the 
business  planning meeting assessed the progress  of  the work  of  the Board over  the last  
year ,  explored opt ions  to  develo p the Board and outl ined pr ior i t ies  for  the year ahead.  

The Board pr ior i t ies  wi l l  be  outl ined in  the Board business  plan.  

The Annual  Report  wi l l  be  taken to  the Oxfords hire  Health  and Wel lbeing Board.  

Page 37



� �  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Appendix 1 

Role Description for Safeguarding Adults Board 
Members 

1 .  The Board member  must  have (or  be g iven)  suff ic ient  author i ty  with in  their  own 

agency  to  be able  to  represent  their  age ncy’s  v iew to  the Board.  

2 .  The Board member  must  be able  to  (or  be g iven the author i ty  to)  commit  the 

resources  of  their  agency  to  support  the work of  the Safeguarding Board.  

3 .  The Board member  must  ensure that  the Board is  informed of  a l l  re levant  profess ional  

and pract ice  issues  that  wi l l  impact  on the abi l i ty  of  the agencies  represent ed on the 

Board to  work together  to  safeguard v ulnerable  adults  in  the County .  

4 .  The Board member  must  be able  to  inf luence the stra tegic  planning for  safeguarding 

vulnerable  adults  with in  their  agency.  

5 .  The Board member  must  be able  to  sec ure appropr iate  information f rom their  agency  

to  support  the work of  the Board.  

6 .  The Board member  must  represent  the posit ion of  the Board with in  their  own agency,  

whether  th is  i s  in  conf l ict  with  their  agency  or  not.  

7 .  The Board member  must  ensure that  de cis ions  of  the Board are  promoted with in  their  

own organisat ion and a ny  impediments  or  delays  to their  implementat ion are  reported 

to  the Board.  

8 .  The Board member  must  ensure that  the work of  the Board,  i ts  pol ic ies  and decis ions,  

i s  communicated effect ively  with in  their  own agency.  

 

Page 38



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Appendix 2 

Role Description for the Independent Chair 

1 .  To ensure that  the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board (OSAB)  operates  ef fect ively  

and exerc ises  i ts  fu nct ions  and responsibi l i t ies  as  set  out  in  No Secrets  and 

Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board’s pol ic ies  and procedures,  and a l l  ne w  

legis lat ion,  regulat ions  and guidance regarding safeguarding adults .  

2 .  Lead the Safeguarding Adults  Board in  the implementat ion of  the Safeguarding Adults  

agenda and together  with  the execut ive  group determine prior i t ies  in  serv ice  

development.  

3 .  Provid ing i ndependence and qual i ty  assurance in  the conduct  of  the Oxfordshire  

Safeguarding Adults Board and i ts  subgroups.  

4 .  Ensure that  performance management is  integrated into  the ro le  and funct ion of  the 

Safeguarding Adults Board and i ts  subgroups to  del iver  impro ved outcomes for  

vulnerable  adults  an d their  carers .   

5 .  Encourage and support  the development of  partnership work ing between the partner  

members  of  the Safeguarding Adults  Board and i ts  subgroups.  

6 .  To promote the Oxfordshire  Safeguarding Adults  Board’s  abi l i t y  to  independently  

ful f i l l  statutory  object ives  of  monitor ing,  chal lenge and scrut in ise  the effect iveness  of  

inter -agency  work ing to  safeguard vulnerable  adults /adults  at  r i sk .   

 

Page 39



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

Appendix 3 

Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board Terms of 
Reference  

1.  Background information about the Board  

1.1 .  The creat ion of  a local  mult i -agency management commit tee (safeguarding 
adults) as a means of  achieving ef fect ive inter -agency working was 
recommended in the Department of  Health report  No Secrets:  Guidance on 
developing and implement ing mult i -agency pol ic ies and procedures to 
protect  vulnerable adults f rom abuse (2000).  This guidance, issued under 
Sect ion 7 of  the Local Authori ty Socia l  Services Act 1970 ,  requires local  
authori t ies in their socia l  services funct ions to p lay a coordinat ing ro le in the 
development of  local  pol ic ies and procedures for the protect ion of  vulnerable 
adults f rom abuse.  

1.2 .  A mult i -agency working group was establ ished in Oxfordshire in 2001, which 
led to the development of  the Oxfordshire Codes of  Pract i ce for the 
Protect ion of  Al l  Vulnerable Adults f rom Abuse, Exploi tat ion and 
Mistreatment in  May 2002 and the development of  the Oxfordshire Adult 
Protect ion Committee.  

1.3 .  The publ icat ion of  Safeguarding Adults –  A nat ional f ramework of  standards 
for good pract ice and outcomes in adult  protect ion work  (ADSS, 2005) led 
the commit tee to re -evaluate i ts exist ing t i t le  and terms of  reference and 
become the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board.  

1.4 .  The Oxfordshire ’s Safeguarding Adults Procedures (2009) superseded 
Oxfordshire Codes of  Pract ice for the Protect ion of  Al l  Vulnerable Adults 
f rom Abuse, Exploitat ion and Mistreatment (2002).  

2.  Purpose 

2.1 .  The purpose of  the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board  is to create a 
f ramework with in which al l  responsib le agencies work together to ensure a 
coherent pol icy for the protect ion of  vulnerable adults at r isk of  abuse and a 
consistent  and ef fect ive response to any circumstances giving ground for 
concern or formal complaints or expressions of  anxiety.  

3    Structure 

3.1 The main board wi l l  be supported by f ive sub -groups: Pol icy and Pract ice;  
Train ing;  Digni ty in Care;  Deprivat ion of  L iberty Safeguards and Serious 
Case Review. The Chairs of  these sub -groups wi l l  be members of  the 
Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board.  

3.2 The structure chart  below shows the ro les and responsib i l i t ies of  the 
commit tees responsib le for implement ing the safeguarding requirements.  

Page 40



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

4. Main Features & Responsibil i t ies  

The Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board’s responsibi l i t ies are:  

4.1.  To encourage and promote the development of  services that:  recognise the 
r ights of  vulnerable people; enable vulnerable people to l ive safely and f ree 
f rom abuse, and; act ively promote individual ’s access to ma instream cr iminal 
just ice and vict im support  services  

4.2.  To oversee the development and implementat ion and review of  local  
pol ic ies and procedures for the protect ion of  vulnerable adults f rom abuse in 
Oxfordshire that  ensure:  

·  The abuse of  vulnerable adults i s ident if ied where i t  is occurr ing  
·  That there is a c lear report ing pathway  
·  That there is an ef fect ive and coordinated response to abuse where i t  is  

occurr ing 
·  That the needs and wishes of  the vulnerable adult  are centra l  to the adult  

protect ion process 

4.3. To encourage and promote a f ramework which ensures that  a l l  individuals 
and agencies working with vulnerable people understand what is meant by 
abuse and their  ro le and responsib i l i t ies in report ing and responding to 
concerns of  abuse, and act ively work to gether to:   

·  Respond ef fect ively to abuse where i t  is  ident if ied  
·  Act to reduce the risk of  harm to vulnerable people as a result  of  abuse  
·  Develop & implement strategies designed to safeguard vulnerable adults f rom 

abuse 
This includes:  

i  developing and agreeing local  pol ic ies and procedures for inter -agency 
work to protect  vulnerable adults,  with in the nat ional f ramework provided 
by “No Secrets”  

i i  audit ing and evaluat ing how wel l  local  services work together to protect  
vulnerable adults,  for example through wide r case audits  

i i i  encouraging and help ing develop ef fect ive working re lat ionships between 
di f ferent  services and professional groups, based on t rust  and mutual 
understanding 

iv ensuring that  there is a level  of  agreement and understanding across 
agencies about operat ional def in i t ions and thresholds for intervent ion

v improving local  ways of  working in the l ight  of  knowledge gained through 
nat ional and local  experience and research,  and to make sure that any 
lessons learned are shared, understood, and acted upon  

vi  undertaking case reviews where an adult  has died or –  in  certa in 
c ircumstances –  been seriously harmed, and abuse or neglect  are 
conf i rmed or suspected 

vii  making sure that  any lessons are understood and acted upon  
vii i communicat ing clear ly to individual services and professional groups their 

shared responsib i l i ty for protect ing vulnerable adults,  and to expla in how 
each can contr ibute  

Page 41



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

ix helping improve the qual i ty of  adult  protect ion work and of  inter -agency 
working through specifying needs for inter -agency t ra in ing and  
development,  and ensuring that  t ra in ing is del ivered  

x ra is ing awareness with in the wider community of  the need to safeguard 
vulnerable adults and promote their  welfare and to expla in how the wider 
community can contr ibute to these object ives  

xi act ively seeking to ident ify where there is a r isk of  inst i tut ional abuse to 
vulnerable adults,  and 

xii  developing strategies to prevent the abuse of  vulnerable adults whenever 
possib le 

xii i  monitor ing,  col lect ing and analysing informat ion in accordance with local  
and government  requirements 

xiv working with local  and adjacent area chi ld and adult  safeguarding boards  
xv ensuring compl iance with formal government requirements.  

5. Reporting 

5.1. The Board wi l l  report  annual ly to the Oxfordshire County Counci l ,  Socia l  &  
Community Services Scrut iny Commit tee.  

5.2.  In addit ion each core/statutory member of  the Oxfordshire Safeguarding 
Adults Board wi l l  be expected to report  to i ts own management committee.  

5.3.  The Board wi l l  produce an annual report  that  wi l l  include a review of  t he 
previous years’  work.  This report  wi l l  be subject  to scrut iny by the 
Oxfordshire Socia l Services,  Socia l  and Community Services Scrut iny 
Commit tee 

5.4. The f ive board subgroups wi l l  contr ibute to the Board’s annual report  

5.5.  Individual member reports wi l l  be in cluded as annexes to the annual Board 
report .  

6. Membership 

6.1. Each core/statutory board member organisat ion must have a designated 
director for the implementat ion of  safeguarding adults ’  work and a nominated 
senior lead representat ive on the Safeguarding Adults  Board. Core/statutory 
board members must be suf f ic ient ly senior in their  organizat ions to represent 
that  organisat ion and make mult i -agency agreements.  

7. Member responsibil i t ies  

7.1. Each core/statutory member of  The Board is commit ted to the aims, 
object ives and pr incip les out l ined in the Oxfordshire ’s Safeguarding Adults 
Procedures (2009).  To th is end each partner agency wi l l :  

a . Have a set  of  internal  guidel ines and report ing structure,  which are 
consistent  with the Oxfordshire ’s Safeguarding Adults Procedures,  a nd 
which set  out the responsib i l i t ies of  al l  workers to work with in the 
Oxfordshire Codes of  Pract ice  

b. Ensure that  a l l  staf f  members and volunteers at  a l l  levels have tra in ing and 
informat ion commensurate with their  ro le in re lat ion to the Oxfordshire 
Codes of  Pract ice 

Page 42



��  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

c.  Ensure that  a l l  adult  safeguarding concerns are systemat ical ly logged along 
with the act ions taken and outcomes ar is ing  

7.2. In addit ion each agency wi l l  undertake an annual r isk assessment/review 
of  services provided by the organisat ion and establ ish an agreed act ion plan 
for promot ing the protect ion of  vulnerable people served by the organisat ion.  

7.3.  Each core/statutory member of  the Oxfordshire Safeguarding Adults Board 
wi l l  provide an annual report  to the board detai l ing progress and 
developments in re lat ion to 5.1 and 5.2 above.  

8. Frequency of Meetings  

8.1. Quarter ly 

 

Page 43



Reporting your concerns 

Everybody work ing with  vulnerable  
people  is  responsible  for  making sure,  
with in  their  Codes of  Pract ice,  that  no  
act ion or  omiss ion on their  part  harms 
the wel lbeing of  serv ice  users .   

I f  you are  aware of  any  vulnerable  person 
who has been harmed or  abused  or  i s  at  
r i sk  of  harm you must  report  i t .  

Oxfordshire Social & Community 
Services  

Oxfordshire  Socia l  & Community  Serv ices  
have procedures  for  deal ing  with  cases  of  
vulnerable  adult  ab use.  They  can offer  
information and advice to  help you in  
decid ing what  you want to  do and in 
some cases  may be able  to  provide you 
with  pract ica l  help and support.  The f i rst  
pr ior i ty  wi l l  be  to  try  and ensure that  you 
are  safe.  

Telephone :  0845 05 07  666  

SMS:  07788 571577  

Fax:  01865 783111  

Address:  Social  and Health  Care team,  PO 
Box 780,  Oxford,  OX1  9GX  

socia landhealthcare@oxfordshire.gov.uk  

Out o f  hours  emergency:  0800 833408   

www.oxfordshire.gov.uk  

Thames Valley Police 

Abuse is  often a  cr ime.  I f  you th ink  a  
cr ime has  been committed contact  the 
pol ice.  

Non-emergency number:  101  

In  an emergency  d ial :  999  

www.thamesval ley .pol ice.uk  

Care Quality Commission (CQC) 

I f  you,  a  f r iend or  relat ive,  l ive  in  a  care  
home or  have care at  home and are not  
happy with  the care that  you are  gett ing  
you can contact  CQC  who can g ive you 
advice on what your r ights  are  and how  
to  compla in.  

Cal l  them on:  03000 616161  

Emai l  them on:  enquir ies@cqc.org.uk  

F ind out  more at :  www.cqc.org.uk  

 

Page 44



�  Annual  Report  2011 -2012  

Katy  Whife,  emai l :  OSAB@O xfo rdshire.go v.uk ,  website:  www.safefromharm.org.uk  

 

Alternat ive  formats  of  th is  publ icat ion can be made avai lable.   

These include other  languages,  large pr int ,  Bra i l le ,  Easy  Read,  
audiocassette,  computer  d isc  or  emai l .  

Please telephone 01865 328232  

Page 45



Page 46

This page is intentionally left blank



Adult Services Scrutiny Committee 
 

26 February 2013 
 

Single Section 75 Agreement 
 

Purpose 
 

1. The purpose of this report is to update the committee on progress in 
developing an agreement to continue joint working arrangements with 
Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning Group from April 2013 onwards. 

 
Background 
 

2. Section 75 of the National Health Services Act 2006 contains powers enabling 
NHS Bodies to exercise certain local authority functions and for local 
authorities to exercise various NHS functions. This in turn enables better 
integration of health and social care, leading to a better experience and 
outcomes for patients and service users.  

 

3. The County Council has three existing agreements under Section 75 with 
Oxfordshire Primary Care Trust to pool resources and deliver shared 
objectives, often referred to as ‘pooled budgets’. These agreements cover 
services for Older People and people with Physical Disabilities, people with 
Learning Disabilities and for people with Mental Health needs. 

 
4. These existing agreements end on 31 March 2013, at the same point that the 

Oxfordshire Primary Care Trust ceases to exist. 
 

5. Both the County Council and the new Oxfordshire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (which formally comes into being from 1 April 2013) are committed to 
continuing the existing joint working arrangements, and building on them to 
ensure even greater integration of health and social care, best use of 
resources, and improved outcomes for the people of Oxfordshire. 

 
Single Section 75 Agreement 
 

6. Experience of operating the existing, separate agreements has shown that 
although they are positive in encouraging joint working and improving 
outcomes, they limit the flexibility to move resources between ‘pools’ to reflect 
demand. There is also some inconsistency between agreements in terms of 
risk, and a perceived lack of transparency and oversight due to them not 
being brought together in a single agreement.  

 
7. As such, the development of a single Section 75 agreement to come into 

effect from 1 April 2013 has been identified as a priority within the Joint Health 
and Wellbeing Strategy. A joint working group involving officers from both 
partners is developing the new agreement, which will be presented to County 
Council Cabinet and the Executive Committee of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group in March. 

Agenda Item 7

Page 47



 

8. Greater emphasis has been placed on the development and delivery of joint 
commissioning strategies, rather than having separate aims, objectives and 
performance measures for the section 75 agreement. This also helps with 
greater transparency, as the commissioning strategies are based on wide 
consultation and are publicly available.  

 

9. The proposed agreement will essentially carry over most of the content of the 
existing agreements, as generally these are considered to be working well. 
However, the new agreement will standardise as much as possible and where 
it is felt appropriate to do so, for example in the roles and responsibilities of 
Joint Management Groups and pooled budget managers that are responsible 
for the implementation of the section 75 agreements.  
 

10. There are also areas where it is likely that variations will be needed to the 
initial agreement, and provision will be made for this. For example, there is a 
great deal of work that is ongoing to bring more resources into the Older 
People’s pooled budget in particular, linked to the development of the Joint 
Older People’s Commissioning Strategy. This work will not be completed by 1 
April as the strategy will be reported to Cabinet in June (and will be brought to 
this Committee before then). Changes to the pooled budget will be made 
through variation to the overall section 75 agreement once agreed. 

 
Summary 
 

11. The Committee is asked to: 
 

• Note the progress in developing the single Section 75 Agreement that will 
come into effect on 1 April 2013. 

• Agree to consider the Joint Older People’s Commissioning Strategy 
before it is considered by Cabinet in June 2013. 

 
 

Page 48



 

 

 
Oxfordshire Local Involvement Network 
Update for Adult Services Scrutiny Committee  
meeting 26th February 2013 
 
The following update covers the final LINk projects delivered under the current 
contract and which will form part of the legacy for Local HealthWatch. 
 
 
Fourth Annual Social Care Hearsay! Engagement Event 
 
A successful and well attended event took place at Eynsham on 1st February where 
approximately 70 service users and carers had the opportunity to respond to the 2012-
13 Hearsay! action plan, provide their views about current service provision and had the 
opportunity to discuss issues and concerns directly with the Director & Senior Officers of 
Social and Community Services.  Four headline priorities were agreed on the day, along 
with sub-headings and detailed feedback, which is included with this update for 
members’ information (note that this is mostly raw feedback which will be further refined 
for the action planning stage).  The full Hearsay! report, together with the action plan for 
2013-14, to be agreed with officers, will be published in early March and will form a vital 
part of the LINk legacy to be passed on to Oxfordshire HealthWatch. 
 
 
 
Other LINk projects, now completed, are health related and have been reported at the 
HOSC meeting on 21st Feb. Summaries are provided below for information. Printed 
copies of the reports will be available at this meeting, from the LINk office on request, or 
can be downloaded from the LINk website: 
 
Post-Natal Maternity Services Review report 
The following concerns are indicated as being the most prevalent: 
1)  Breastfeeding 

• Receiving conflicting information; 
• Strongly ‘pushed’ as the best option; 
• Initial promotion not followed up with the right level, or regularity, of support. 

2)  Consistency of support 
• Mothers seeing many different health visitors after the birth, which leads to 

conflicting information being given; 
• Lack of signposting onto other services means mothers can feel isolated and 

have to look for services themselves, potentially missing out on support; 
• This can result in an inability to develop a purposeful relationship with 

professionals. 
 
The report has been submitted to Oxford University Hospitals NHS Trust and to 
Commissioners with a request for a response to the recommendations 
 
Mental Health Hearsay update 
The report from the update event held on 6th December has been considered by the 
Mental Health Joint Management Group and will be taken to the Better Mental Health  
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 49



 

 

 
 
 
Programme Board on 28th February. A draft response has been received from the 
Commissioners and from Oxford Health. 
 
 
Review of information provided for NHS Dental Patients in Oxfordshire 
This project was set up to review access to information for Oxfordshire dental patients, 
in dental practices and on dental practice websites.  The study design was developed in 
collaboration with the Primary Care Trust, based on a similar study undertaken by 
Berkshire LINk. Data collection & interviews were carried out by LINk volunteers & staff. 
The project lead and other key members have analysed the data and prepared a  
report on the findings for the PCT/OCCG. Overall recommendations for ‘Good Practice’ 
are contained in Appendix 4. 
 
OMEGA report into the system for referral and treatment of CFS/ME patients 
The research findings have been circulated previously. A response to the 
recommendations has been received from Oxford Health and is expected from the 
Commissioners. 
 
 
Transition to Oxfordshire HealthWatch 
 
A LINk round-up event will be taking place during March – invitations are in the process 
of being circulated. This will be an opportunity to review past LINk projects and provide 
a means to agree priority work to pass onto Local HealthWatch, based on the LINk 
Legacy.  The Annual Report for 2012-13 will be presented at this event. 
 
 
 
 
Adrian Chant (LINk Locality Manager)  
01865 883488 
Update 14/02/2013 

Page 50



 
 

Social Care Hearsay! 2013 Priorities 

PRIORITY 1 

What can Oxfordshire County Council do to keep on improving 
our services? 

About services in general you said: 

- Listening to people – Hearsay! – would be good to see easy read before event 
- Not everyone has a computer 
- Random visits to monitor quality 
- Focus groups with staff in care homes 
- People need to be able/prepared to complain 
- Measuring the right thing i.e. staff turnover 
- Information/reports to be made available 
- Language barriers i.e. English not first language, jargon 
- Improving training, training for informal carers 
- Establishing good practice 
- Champions 
- Monitoring – where action can be taken, monitoring by stakeholders/officers – are we measuring the 

right point 
- Too many carers/improve transition of services from children to adults difficult 

About improvements regarding transport you said: 

- How is transport managed in other counties? e.g. Lincolnshire has received funding from EU to set up a 
scheme which is now self-funded. How can we help communities to help themselves, funding, practical 
help, to set up local schemes, work with communities 

- Information on transport – what has happened to dial-a-ride? 
- Link up services – oyster card for Oxfordshire, bus can share school run and lifts for elderly 
- Public transport not easy for disabled if you need to use a walker/wheelchair – training for bus drivers 
- Cost – extend concession – oyster card for Oxfordshire 
- Personal service/trained drivers 
- Repeated journeys – co-ordination of transport services/flexibility 

About getting in contact with social workers you said: 

- How can we make things better? 
- Getting practical help important 
- Being pro-active with self-funders can head off safeguarding issues and coordinating care Need to 

include self-funders in regular assessments  
- Someone to come quickly when you call 
- In Brighton & Hove dedicated review team (care coordinators) allocated to different care providers (15 

people in team) that worked well. People see same social worker each year 
- Social worker got to know families well – continuity 
- Increased no of reviews & on time 
- Prevented safeguarding problems 

Page 51



 
 

- Knowing who your care manager is important and phone number, info pack sent out, single phone 
no/equipment/care/assessment 
 

PRIORITY 2 

How can the Council help prevent us from experiencing 
discrimination? 

About handling abuse on public transport you said: 

- Everyone on table seen or experienced abuse – can be drivers/staff – passengers 
- Know where to complain/talk to someone, be clear about what to do if it happens 
- Knowing that your complaint will be dealt with 
- Make a note of time date number of bus to report to manager 
- Transport staff have to have training and be checked on people 
- Easy read for timetables and no jargon/bigger print/braille 
- Awareness training in schools/colleges 
- Clear messages on buses/trains saying if abuse is seen or reported you will be told to leave the 

bus/train and be fined 

About going back to employment particularly for mental health service users you said: 

- Representatives groups  
- Carers groups – Bicester 
- Information from My Life My Choice 
- New employment scheme should ask the questions – do you want to go back to work? If not there may 

be valid reasons: should not be coerced 
- Need more support finding a job and support when in the workplace 
- Money – threat in changes to benefits – cuts to money, fear of being out of work – regaining benefits 
- Assessments need to review mental health (individuals are ‘parked’) they only consider physical 

impairments 
- Atos and assessment companies need more robust assessment that is inclusive of mental health 
- People with mental health issues may be on strong medication which may influence/impact job – should 

be part of assessment (may be withdrawn and not want to socialise)  
- Peer mentor for support in work 
- Training and educational needs of employers to understand mental health 
- The stigma attached to mental health 
- Need a national scheme to encourage people with disabilities to set up their own companies/business 
- ‘Discrimination is being actively encouraged by the changes’ 
- Atos and A4E are not liaising with voluntary organisations to enlighten user needs 
- Employers could seek help from voluntary sector as mentors 
- Negative - Government is actively discriminating against disabled people – by encouraging them to 

work and cutting benefits  
- Positive – support should be given to individuals to enter and stay in the work place rather than 

bouncing in/out 
- No advantage – poor on benefits and poor in work – actually worse off 
- Stress and becoming unwell – going back on benefits, no support to find a job 

Page 52



 
 

- Can’t be supported in the workplace because it identifies you as a service user  
- Threat of having benefits withdrawn 
- The Government are pitting the employed against the unemployed and the able bodied against the 

disabled.  

 

PRIORITY 3 

How can the Council help with support networks? 

You said: 

- Where is the support/advice to set up a carers group? Carers Oxfordshire/voices 
- Training for carers (existing groups) (i.e. KAT) and advertise widely 
- Info is scattered for families of children with learning disabilities – great to have external facilitator to 

take strain off carers. Otherwise can’t sustain it. Get a lot of info from other carers (funded by Comic 
Relief) 

- Carers groups should use Carers Oxfordshire 
- Carers groups need to be engaging with a programme – people talking about their problems all the 

time is depressing 
- Support networks can be key to aspects of everyday living e.g. exorbitant taxi costs to get to 

groups/appointments for Social & Community Services users 
- GP’s useful to keep updated on latest info  
- Banbury carers group has just folded. People are choosing to do other activities. 
- People with LD who are carers need more support 
- More social networks for young adults and adults with LD – not much there 
- Support to start a community/carers group 
- How to get volunteers to work together without offending people (OCVA) 
- Good neighbourhood schemes – need to promote better 
- Needs to be a drive by all to ensure all carers groups in Oxfordshire know about Carers Oxfordshire and 

have funding information 
 

PRIORITY 4 

How can the Council keep us informed and help us find out what 
we need to know? 

About changes affecting benefits you said: 

- Is learning disability losing to other parts of OCC? 
- Universal credit changes - what are the disadvantages?  
- Blue Badge difficulties? 
- Reduction case contracts & their provision 
- Inform OXON people about the impact of the cuts to local Government from Central Government 
- Does the District Council know? 
- Inform OXON people about DWPP’s GL 24 in their rights 

Page 53



 
 

- Biggest problem: ensuring that alcoholics, drug addicts don’t use their benefit/direct payments wrongly 
– will lead to increased homelessness 

- What is the safeguarding? 
- Do Head teachers know enough & offer parents sound guidance where appropriate? To point them in 

the best direction 
- Those receiving direct support, will they be recompensed for the reduction in Council Tax (?10%) on 

benefit – what help might they hope for? any? Might OCC help here? 

About being informed in general you said: 

- Key times e.g. – diagnosis, referral, schools identify a concern etc, big changes, transition – need an 
information pack with signposting to more information and support groups  

- Face to face, parents groups, very effective 
- Could we make better use of national information or join up with other areas to produce it? 
- Where does the knowledge and info need to be? GP surgeries – everyone goes, leaflets, receptionist (& 

GPs), schools, SCS, libraries, CAB, on-line (but not just on-line), churches, community centres,  
- Good examples – networks, social groups, noticeboards/newsletters, carers groups, groups like this 

need some support to sustain themselves (busy working carers don’t have the time to organise and 
facilitate), information is accessible and powerful through other carers and helps people feel less 
isolated 

- On-line info – has a place but you usually want to ask follow up and clarification individual questions to 
a person. Going through a hub to get to other organisations info is a good idea. Needs to be very clear 
and easy to navigate. 

- Good information about welfare benefits and concessions – really important but complex and difficult to 
follow. Can this be more joined up with info about health and social care? 

- Train/inform the leaders of groups/librarians/GP receptionists etc. 
- People don’t know what DP and PB etc. are – never mind acronyms – talk simply – otherwise people 

don’t even know what to ask about  
- Phone numbers of SF (support finder), don’t know what’s on SF 
- Disability website – broken down by special interest areas – and make sure not to fall between the 

cracks (e.g. not one disability/complex) 
- Orgs across disability/illness/issue groups don’t speak to each other 
- Integrating info across health/social care/housing – join up as good model 
- Get a write up in the press – Oxford Mail, Times, Banbury Guardian   

About housing maintenance you said: 

- Housing Association saying you have to do it yourself – garden, cleaning windows, home maintenance, 
light bulbs, what if you’re disabled 

- Trust a Trader – list of recommended people – trading standards 
- Charging for services that used to be free 
- Bounced between utilities and housing provider – whose responsibility is it? – housing providers/private 

owned 
- Solutions – housing providers should know how many people living in their properties – join up 

provision across a lot of people and it would still be safe and cheaper 
- H&S high standard bulbs not available 
- ‘Community Service’ – is it safe? Trust? – vulnerability 
- Voucher schemes 

Page 54



 
 

- Residents groups – advocate 
- ‘Staying put’ scheme? - Alan to tell us! My Life My Choice – easy read, Home Improvement agency 
- Advocacy 
- Waiting 2 years for new loo – constantly passed on from one person to the next – whose responsibility 
- Support people to set up their own business e.g. hearing disability 

 

 

Page 55



Page 56

This page is intentionally left blank



Division(s): 
 
 

Adult Services Scrutiny Committee- February 26th 2013 
 

CARE HOME FEES 
 

Report by Director for Social & Community Services 
 
 

Introduction 
 

1. The services that care homes provide within Oxfordshire play an important role in 
helping to meet the needs of vulnerable adults.  The Council has to ensure that there 
is sufficient capacity within the social care market to meet its current and future 
commissioning requirements. 
 

2. The cost of adult social care and how it should be funded has for many years been 
the subject of discussion and much media attention. These discussions have taken 
place at both a national and a local level and in many respects have focused on the 
cost of care home services. 
 

3. At a local level the council has stated that we are keen to ensure the sustainability of 
care home services in Oxfordshire to meet the assessed needs of vulnerable adults.  
We have also said that we are committed to work alongside providers to ensure that 
the same is of the highest quality.   The council is also working to support more 
people to live at home in the community so that they do not need to go into a 
residential care home.  Working with the District/City Councils and Housing 
Associations, we have embarked on a major expansion of Extra Care Housing. We 
are also discussing other housing options which help support people to live in their 
own homes. 
 

4. In relation to care homes services for older people it has largely been providers who 
have expressed concern that prices paid by local authorities do not reflect the true 
cost of care. They have also argued that there is a “cross-subsidy” from care funded 
privately by individuals and families.  Disagreements over fee rates are not new 
however, over the last two years there have been a number of legal challenges 
made by care home providers against the way that some local authorities have 
undertaken their annual reviews of the rates they pay for the services delivered.  
 

5. This report is now brought to Cabinet to  
 

(a) describe the process the Council has undertaken to review the amount it pays 
for care homes this year and 

(b) agree the Target Banding Rates to be applied for 2012-13 and 2013-14. 
 

The Council's Obligations 
 

6. Under Section 21 of the National Assistance Act 1948 the Council has an obligation 
to make arrangements for providing "residential accommodation for persons aged 18 

Agenda Item 9

Page 57



 
 
 

or over who by reason of age, illness, disability or any other circumstances are in 
need of care and attention which is not otherwise available to them;….” 
 

7. Local authorities are required, in the exercise of their social services functions, to 
“act under the general guidance of the Secretary of State” (section 7 of the Local 
Authority Social Services Act 1970).  In this respect the relevant Local Authority 
Circular LAC (2004) 20 provides guidance and sets out what individuals should be 
able to expect from a council that is responsible for funding their care, subject to the 
individual's means, when arranging a care home place for them.    

8. The Guidance intends to ensure that when councils with social services 
responsibilities make placements in care homes or care homes providing nursing 
care, that, within reason, individuals are able to exercise genuine choice over where 
they live. Individuals have the right to move in to more expensive accommodation 
than they would otherwise have been offered in certain circumstances (if they chose 
to pay a ‘top-up’).  

 
9. The general rule is that if, following an assessment, it is agreed that an individual 

needs care in a care home, the individual concerned can express a preference for 
particular accommodation (“preferred accommodation”) within England and Wales 
and the council must arrange for care in that accommodation, provided:  
 

(a) The accommodation is suitable for the individual’s assessed needs  
(b) To do so would not cost the council more than what it would usually expect to 

pay for accommodation for someone with the individual’s assessed needs. 
This is often referred to as the ‘usual cost’.  

(c) The accommodation is available.  
(d) The provider of the accommodation is willing to provide accommodation 

subject to the council’s usual terms and conditions for such accommodation  
 

10. If an individual requests it, the council must also arrange for care in accommodation 
more expensive than it would usually fund provided a third party or, in certain 
circumstances, the resident, is willing and able to pay the difference between the 
cost the council would usually expect to pay and the actual cost of the 
accommodation (to ‘top up’). These are the only circumstances where either a third 
party or the resident may be asked to top up.  
 

11. As stated above one of the conditions associated with the provision of preferred 
accommodation is that such accommodation should not require the council to pay 
more than they would usually expect to pay, having regard to assessed needs (the 
‘usual cost’).  
 

12. With regard to the usual cost the Guidance states that this cost should be set by 
councils at the start of a financial or other planning period, or in response to 
significant changes in the cost of providing care, to be sufficient to meet the 
assessed care needs of supported residents in residential accommodation.  
Furthermore in setting and reviewing their usual costs, councils should have due 
regard to the actual costs of providing care and other local factors. 
 

Page 58



 
 
 

13. In general the law requires authorities to follow the path charted by the Secretary of 
State’s guidance, but with liberty to deviate from it where the local authority judges 
that there is good reason to do so.  A local authority must consider any such 
guidance with great care, and only depart from it if it has cogent reasons for doing 
so, which it is able to articulate convincingly. 
 

14. There is also non-statutory guidance in this field (Building Capacity and Partnerships 
in Care). This guidance is a relevant consideration for the Council in this exercise. 
The approach set out in this non-statutory guidance is, in relevant respects, similar to 
that set out in the statutory guidance, and it does not add to factors mentioned 
above. 
 

15. In summary we have to provide residential or nursing care to those that need it. We 
have to meet individual preferences. People can chose to top up, or pay and 
additional amount, for a more expensive care home of their choice. Local Authorities 
have to set a rate for care annually. What we pay must be sufficient to meet 
assessed needs, and we must have due regard to the actual costs of providing care 
and other local factors. 
 
 

Purchasing Care Home Services for Older People in Oxfordshire 
 

16. At the end of October 2012 Oxfordshire County Council funded 1,713 older people in 
care home placements. 499 of these were in placements covered by a block contract 
with Order of St John and 1,214 were in spot placements.  

 
17. 1,006 of the spot placements were permanent placements with 701 being in the 

nursing and 305 in the residential homes (a 70:30 split). The remaining spot 
placements were of a temporary or short-term nature.  

 
18. There are 105 care homes in the county offering a total of c.4,500 placements. This 

means that 60% of places are occupied by private payers. 
 
19. This council has traditionally set Target Banding Rates on an annual basis in order to 

spot purchase care home placements for older people.  The Target Banding Rates 
indicate the target funding level that the council will seek to pay for an individual 
person following an assessment of their needs. There is therefore a relationship 
between the rate paid (target banding rate) and the level of need.  
 

20. Officers from the council then use this guide to secure a care home placement  at a 
funding level as close to the Target Banding Rate as possible.  Within the process 
there is flexibility to fund above the target Banding Rate should a person's assessed 
needs require additional funding to meet the same.  We also pay above the target 
Banding Rate where there is no alternative and we urgently need to find suitable 
accommodation that will meet someone’s care needs. 
 
 

21. The rates in place at 1st April 2012 covered 5 care categories.  
 
Residential Care Home (Care without nursing) 
Social Care - Substantial    £350 per week 
Social Care - Extensive/Specialist   £403 per week 
 

Page 59



 
 
 

Nursing Care Home (Care with nursing) * 
Social Care - Substantial    £473 per week 
Social Care - Extensive    £527 per week 
Social Care - Specialist    £612 per week 

 
*The figures quoted for care with nursing include the single-rate Funded Nursing Care and 
Incontinence Payments 
 

22. Each year these banding rates are reviewed and decisions made about any change 
that should be made from one year to the next. 
 

23. In practice the lowest banding rate is not currently used by council staff making new 
placements. However we have historical placements made at the Social Care – 
Substantial Rate. 

 
24. Our assessment is that we have council funded placements in nearly all 105 care 

homes in Oxfordshire. However we estimate that only 25 care homes will accept 
people placed under spot arrangements and paid for at the level of our target 
banding rates. 

 
25. In summary the council purchases approximately 40% of the available care home 

places in Oxfordshire. We set a range of (target) rates to reflect different levels of 
need. In practice the actual amount paid can vary from these rates. 

 

Recent Legal Challenges 
 
26. In other parts of the country there have been a number of legal challenges made by 

care home providers against the way that their local authorities have conducted their 
annual price reviews.   

 
27. In December 2010 there was the Pembrokeshire Judicial Review. In the latter part of 

2011 there were two cases of note that have been specifically about the process of 
setting of fee levels by local authorities; namely the Sefton Council case and a case 
involving Leicestershire County Council.   
 

28. The Sefton case highlighted the importance of ensuring compliance with 
Government guidance, thorough consultation and proper equality impact 
assessment when setting care home fees.  The Leicestershire case restated the 
Sefton decision.  More recently a decision involving Port Talbot Council confirmed 
that the level of resources available to the council could be taken into account by a 
council when deciding on the level of uplift to offer on payment rates.  
 

29. These cases have specifically reminded councils of the government's expectations 
on local authorities when setting their fee levels and conducting annual price 
reviews.  The courts have not stipulated what the rate of pay for care should be. 

 
30. Some of the key themes that have arisen from these cases include 
 

(a) A need for councils to assess the actual cost of care in their local area. 
(b) A need to consult with providers to hear their views on the same 
(c) A need to consider local market factors 
(d) A need to carry out an Impact Assessment as part of the decision making 

process. 

Page 60



 
 
 

 
31. In summary there have been a number of successful legal challenges made by care 

providers against Local Authorities. These challenges focus on the process by which 
the council sets its rate including whether they have consulted appropriately with 
care homes. A range of factors have to be considered in setting the rate including 
the cost of providing care and the resources available to the council. 
 

Consulting with the Care Home Sector 
 

32. Oxfordshire County Council has carried out its own consultation with care home 
providers. In December 2011 the Director wrote to all contracted care homes to 
advise them of the approach that would be taken to the annual review of the Target 
Banding Rates. This communication explained that he would be 

 
(a) Writing to providers to seek information about their operating costs. 
(b) Offering to discuss operating costs with a number of providers on an individual 

basis. 
 
33. At the same time and alongside this work to help identify provider operating costs he 

would consider a number of the usual associated market factors, including:    
 

(a) Market Share  
(b) New developments within the care home sector in Oxfordshire  
(c) The Financial Health of the Care Homes Sector  
(d) The quality of care available 
(e) Average Length of Stay 
(f) The numbers of new placements that need support each year 
(g) User Experiences  

 
34. On 21 February  2012 officers from the council met with the Chair of the Oxfordshire 

Care Home Association and other representatives to hear their views on how best to 
conduct the consultation about operating costs and to hear about the cost pressures 
they were facing.  . 

 
35. The Association highlighted to officers their view that there was a 20% gap that had 

developed between the cost of providing care and the Council's Target Banding 
Rates in the last 5 years. This was as a result of cost pressures that had arisen over 
the same period.  
 

36. In view of these discussions in March 2012 the Director again wrote to all care home 
providers and made several key proposals to the sector. 
 
(a) From 1st April 2012 we offered to uplift our payment rates for existing placements in care 

homes by 3%.  

(b) We also offered to uplift our target banding levels for new spot placements in care homes by 
3% from the same date. 

(c) We proposed to continue to discuss and agree the cost of individual placements on a case-
by-case basis with providers where appropriate in order to meet the costs of services for 
those most vulnerable. 

(d) During the 2012/13 financial year we proposed to undertake a review of the cost of 
purchasing care home services to inform the Council's decisions on the target banding levels 
to be used from April 2013 

Page 61



 
 
 

 
37. We advised providers that the council's proposal to uplift its current rates and target 

banding levels by 3% was an interim proposal pending a more thorough review and 
consultation as to the costs of care.   

 
38. We believed this proposal to increase payment levels by 3% to be both reasonable 

and affordable in the current financial climate; payment levels have subsequently 
been raised to reflect this commitment.  

 
39. To help us understand the cost of care and to set this at a rate that reflects local 

circumstances we had to consider the options available for care home fee modelling. 
The choice was between using the Laing & Buisson model (nationally recognised 
healthcare Consultants) or developing a model of our own that reflected the actual 
cost of care. We also had available to us the model currently being developed by the 
Association of Directors of Social Services (ADASS). 
 

40. We included the Laing & Buisson model in the consultation process as a readily 
available toolkit that care homes could complete to help inform our decisions. At one 
of the Care Home Association meetings we encouraged providers to come forward 
with their costs so that these local costs could be used  to inform the Laing & 
Buisson model. We also highlighted a Council concern around the Return on Capital 
used in the model.  

 
41. In addition, during the period of consultation, the Association of Directors of Adult 

Services had convened workshops of interested parties to develop a new costing 
model.  

 
42. The outcome of the consultation is covered below together with a commentary on 

the cost models available.  
 
43. To ensure that there were a number of opportunities to obtain feedback we 

 
(a) Met face to face with representatives from Oxfordshire Care Homes 

Association on three occasions ( 21st February, 19th March and 23rd April 
2012). 

(b) Embarked on an open consultation process that asked all care home 
providers to comment on our proposals and take part in a review of the cost of 
providing care home services in Oxfordshire.  This formal consultation 
exercise was organised through the Council's website and ran from March 
2012 to the middle of May 2012.  

(c) Asked care home providers to upload (onto the website) their cost structures 
to support responses contained in the questionnaire; the format to be used 
being the industry recognised costing tool that has been used by Laing & 
Buisson (Healthcare consultants) for a number of years. 

(d) Reminded providers of the consultation and the opportunity to take part. 
(e) Offered to meet individual providers on a confidential basis to discuss 

operating costs and set up meetings at 4 venues (Witney, Oxford, Banbury 
and Abingdon) on 4 separate dates between 20th April and 18th May 2012 in 
order to do the same. 

(f) Reviewed the local market factors associated with care home provision in 
Oxfordshire. 

Page 62



 
 
 

 

Feedback from the Consultation Process 
 

44. There has been a disappointing response to the consultation exercise.  
 
45. There are 105 care homes that provide services for older people in Oxfordshire.  19 

of these homes are operated by The Orders of St.John Care Trust and contracted to 
the council through a long-term development arrangement that runs through to 2026.  
They, therefore, fall outside of this price review arrangement as provisions for price 
increases are contained within the contract in place.) There are therefore 86 homes 
potentially affected by the council banding rates. 

 
46. Only 14 out of 86 providers responded to the web based consultation. 10 of these 

responses came from providers operating within Oxfordshire with 4 responses 
coming from care home providers located outside Oxfordshire. 

 
47. In addition a further 11 care home providers from Oxfordshire attended confidential 

individual meetings to discuss operating costs. Less than half of the 11 providers 
were willing to share their costs. The council has consequently received a total of 5 
sets of operating costs.  

 
48. Where providers shared their costing information this was compared to both the 

Laing & Buisson model and the Association of Directors of Adult Services model. 
Direct comparison of cost headings was not always possible and a judgement was 
made by County Council officers as to which cost heading, expenditure should fall. A 
summary of the costings for Nursing homes are shown in the table below.  
 
 Cost Model Provider Costs 
 L&B ADASS* Home A Home B Home C Home D Home E 

Beds 
 
Costs per week 

50 48 49 60 50 30 30 

Staff Costs 384 370 434 474 324 462 601 
Repairs & maintenance 37 15 21 15 58 15 19 
Non-staff costs 88 65 105 156 83 344 86 
Capital Costs 213 118 229 77 297 131 32 
Total £721 £568 £789 £721 £762 £952 £738 
(NB: * Association of Directors of Adult Services cost model still being developed) 
 

49. From the information received we can conclude that: 
 

(a) There were limited responses to the consultation overall 
(b) Few Care Homes were prepared to provide full or detailed costs 
(c) Of those provided the average nursing cost was £781 with a range of £721 to 

£952 
(d) There was only 1 residential rate at £800 with no detailed costings 
(e) In terms of payroll costs - Hourly rates for care staff were comparable across 

all providers, averaging at £6.70 with a range of £6.40 to £7.12. The blended 
rate in the updated Laing & Buisson model is £6.44 to £7.33, hence a 
comparable rate. The Association of Directors of Adult Services model 
suggests a care staff hourly rate of £6.90. 

Page 63



 
 
 

(f) Hourly rates for Nursing staff were also comparable averaging at £12.21 with 
a range of £11.22 to £13.72. This is comparable to the blended rate in the 
Laing & Buisson model.  

(g) The expenditure on management, administration and reception staff in 
Oxfordshire is higher than the Laing & Buisson model. 

(h) Expenditure on Repairs & Maintenance, non staff expenses and cost of 
capital is difficult to align 

(i) In all cases, the cost is higher than the Laing & Buisson model updated by 
County Council officers.  

(j) In all cases, the cost is considerably higher than the Association of Directors 
of Adult Services model. 
 

50. The information received gave a consistent message on staffing costs which ties into 
the updated L&B model. However the usefulness of the remaining information is 
limited by the number of responses and lack of responses from residential care 
homes. 

 
51. Overall the general view from those providers that took part either through the 

consultation process or through individual meetings is that:  
 

(a) The County Council’s approach to consultation and the open dialogue is 
helpful. 

(b) The council should increase its Target Banding Rates. This is because 
providers feel there are cost pressures in all areas of their business and past 
fee decisions have not kept up with operating pressures. 

(c) Whilst the cost structures we received did suggest cost of provision above 
that which the council currently pays, providers appeared to acknowledge the 
financial position that the council is in. There also appears to be a general 
acceptance of a two tier approach to fee levels (private fee levels and local 
authority fee levels) although some providers consider this is morally wrong 
while others are happy to accept the council's residents.   

(d) Our decisions have a much greater impact on those homes that are prepared 
to accept council rates and those that have a high proportion of council 
funded residents in situ. 

(e) Providers are looking for ways to diversify their services. Several were 
discussing options for providing day services or building/designating wings for 
specialist service and are looking for guidance from the council on what our 
future commissioning needs are. 

(f) Concerns that there had been little or no increase in our banding rates in the 
past.  

(g) Perceived unfairness that council get the benefit of the increased client 
contributions (through increased pensions) but did not pass this on as part of 
the Target Banding Rate.  

 
52. Despite the Care Homes Association suggesting that a 20% increase is needed to it 

did not provide any evidence of substance that can stand up to interrogation to 
support this claim. 

 

Page 64



 
 
 

53. In summary there was an extensive consultation running over several months. The 
consultation was inclusive of all care home providers and was conducted by letter, 
web based consultation and face to face meetings. A 3% increase in the fee level 
was made for 2012/13 as an interim measure while the consultation took place. In 
all, 16% of care home providers participated in the consultation and only 6% of care 
home providers were willing to share their costs with us. Costs at those 6% of homes 
appeared to be higher than either the banding rates of the County Council or the 
actual fees agreed by the council.   
 

54. We do not know why the majority of providers did not come forward with their costs, 
despite ample opportunity to do so in confidence.  
 

The Oxfordshire Care Home Market 
 

55. As stated above, recent legal challenges have also emphasised the need to take into 
account local market factors when considering price changes.  

 
56. We already monitor closely developments within the Oxfordshire care homes market 

through regular reviews, performance information and on-going day-to-day contact 
with individual homes and organisations as part of our quality monitoring work.  The 
following is a summary of our views:  
 

(a) Firstly we expect to continue to purchase nursing care home services in the 
future.  Alongside this we anticipate purchasing fewer residential care home 
services and instead we will look to alternatives such as extra-care housing 
and care at home.  This is something that we have shared with the care 
homes sector on a number of occasions and has been set out in our Business 
Strategy for some time. 

(b) In terms of market share we estimate that we purchases about one-third of 
all care home places in Oxfordshire. We estimate a further 9% of places are 
purchased by Oxfordshire Primary Care Trust or by other local authorities 
meaning that just under 60% of all places are purchased privately. Whilst this 
means that we are in volume a minority purchaser of places it also suggests 
that the council is the largest single purchaser. 

 
(c) Changes within the care homes market - Over the last few years there has 

been good interest in developing new care home services and extra-care 
housing in Oxfordshire. In respect of the latter the council already has 406 
extra care housing flats available, a further 55 units opening in early 2013 and 
a strategy agreed with District/City Councils to develop a total of 1,000 units 
by  2015/16 

 
57. During 2011 we estimated that a number of providers added c.200 beds through the 

development of new homes or through extensions to existing homes. We are aware 
of further developments that are planned in the future. 

 
58. The danger here is that if supply outstrips demand then vacancies may increase 

creating an imbalance between expenditure and income for some care homes. 
 

Page 65



 
 
 

59. A further concern is that if new developments concentrate on the private market then 
the proportion of the market that the council can access to support its vulnerable 
adults may reduce. 

 
60. How we are purchasing - The following table shows the placements made from 1st 

April 2012 to 20th November 2012 and the average price paid. The table shows that 
we are paying above the target rate for all levels of need. It also shows that we are 
not using the lowest rate – Residential – Substantial.  

 
 

Category  Target Band Price  
(inc +3%) per week 

Placements Average Purchase 
Price  

per week 
Res - Substantial £360 1 £680 
Res - Extensive/Specialist £415 93 £555 
Nursing - Substantial £487 4 £696 
Nursing - Extensive £542 101 £600 
Nursing - Specialist £630 69 £701 
 
 

61. The financial health of the sector is regularly checked by the Council as part of our 
response to managing risk and business continuity in the current financial climate. In 
terms of sustainability our assessments suggest that the current financial health of 
the sector is similar to that of 12 months ago.  More recently the council has changed 
its system for monitoring the financial viability of providers. Recent analysis is 
showing that of those providers checked nearly all are rated secure, stable or 
normal.   
(a) Secure - Companies in this sector tend to be large and successful public 

companies. Failure is very unusual and normally occurs only as a result of 
exceptional changes 

(b) Stable - company failure is a rare occurrence and will only come about if there 
are major company or marketplace changes. 

(c) Normal - This sector contains many companies that do not fail, but some that 
do. 

62. Despite the situation in Oxfordshire there are of course concerns nationally about the 
financial health of some providers particularly following the demise of Southern 
Cross in 2011. We are therefore maintaining a review of care home services in the 
county to monitor their financial viability and sustainability. 

63. Our general view is that the quality of care in Oxfordshire is good and that there is 
a good foundation of quality care home providers in the county. We have reviewed 
the Care Quality Commissions latest checks on the Essential Standards of Care that 
are published on its website.  These cover the areas of 

(a) Treating people with respect and involving them in their care. 
(b) Providing care, treatment and support which meets people's needs 
(c) Caring for people safely and protecting them from harm 
(d) Standards of staffing 
(e) Standards of management. 

64. In nearly all homes in Oxfordshire, the Care Quality Commission is reporting that 
when last checked all standards were being met.  In December 2010, a local 
benchmarking study on length of stays in care homes with 6 other authorities 
suggested that people live in care homes in Oxfordshire for longer than in other parts 

Page 66



 
 
 

of the country. Furthermore people in Oxfordshire had the longest length of stay in 
care homes. On average this is 5 months longer than the average authority in the 
study (an extra 20%). 

 
65. The council is concerned that some people may be entering a care home setting 

too early in their life.  In 2011, the Council funded about 492 new permanent 
placements. , 109 (over 20%) of these were people who had originally funded their 
own care but who now required support from the council.  Further analysis suggests 
that a number of these people may not have needed care home services when they 
first went into a care home as determined by our eligibility criteria for social care.  
With this in mind we are actively looking to encourage people who fund their own 
care to look at alternatives to care home placements at the time of potential 
admission. 

 
66. For council funded residents the length of stay in a care home is approximately 2.92 

years. 
 
67. We are committed to help people stay in their own home.  We anticipate the number 

of our permanent care home admissions to reduce and have reported to 
Oxfordshire's Health and Wellbeing Board that we expect to make no more than 400 
permanent care home admissions during the next 12 months.  Of these we expect 
100 to be into block beds, with no more than 300 placements being purchased 
through spot arrangements. 

 
68. Peoples' experience in a care home generally appears to be positive.  Across 

Oxfordshire, people are generally happy with services they receive. Of a survey of 
546 social care clients in February 2012 the questionnaires returned in respect of 
care home services indicated that overall 91% were satisfied with services (71% of 
them being extremely or very satisfied), and only 2% were dissatisfied. 
 

69. This has been further emphasised by a recent report from Oxfordshire’s Local 
Involvement Network that found that residents were well looked after, safe and 
secure with input from external agencies such as GPs and other professionals.  
 

70. In summary there is a thriving care home market in Oxfordshire with new entrants 
coming in all the time. The council places approximately 500 people in to care 
homes every year, although its strategy is to support more people at home or, for 
those that require it, nursing care. Currently supply and demand are reasonably well 
balanced. The quality of care is good and people are satisfied with the care that they 
receive. 
 

Considerations 
 

71. We find it disappointing that our consultation process has generated such a limited 
response. Indeed whilst there has been a near unanimous view from a few 
respondents that the council should increase its banding rates the low number 
submitting cost structure returns would in the council’s view not provide a robust 
argument for substantially increasing funding to the sector above that already given.  
 

72. Furthermore although the cost structures we did receive indicated cost of provision 
above that which the council currently pays, providers appeared to acknowledge the 
financial position that the council is in.  

Page 67



 
 
 

 
73. The County Council’s service and resource planning process has identified that there 

are significant pressures on the older people’s budget. As a result we need to focus 
resources for the benefit of an increasing number of vulnerable people.  Increasing 
our spending on care home services goes against our stated business strategy for 
the future.   

 
74. Of interest is that a legal case this year suggested that local councils could take into 

account the availability of resources when determining the outcome of a price 
review. Given the financial pressures that we face now and will face in the future we 
believe that increasing spending in this service area for 2012/13 beyond the 
increased expenditure this year is unsustainable. 

 
75. However these are clearly challenging times for both providers and purchasers and it 

is important to the council to make sure that there is a sufficient provision to meet 
existing and increased future service demands.  Sustainability appears to be the key 
but the care homes market is itself responding to demographic changes with new 
services being planned and developed.   
 

76. One area of vulnerability may be some of our smaller homes as Laing & Buisson 
identify the operation of an efficient home starting at 48-50 beds capacity.  But 
smaller more homely establishments clearly have a place in our commissioning 
strategy and they may be more viable if they have lower overheads and less debt 
due to how long they have operated. 

 
77. What this suggests is that we need to recognise that whatever cost model is used 

the resulting figure generated is only an aid to discussion about what is an 
appropriate banding level or price to pay. In any model there are local variations that 
will inevitably be challenged by both sides as each drives to obtain the best outcome. 
In this respect the existence and use of a costing model does not in itself generate a 
solution to the question about what is the true cost of care. 
 

78. We propose that we should simplify the banding rates to delete the currently unused 
rate of Residential-Substantial. The care received by people living in care homes or 
needing future care will not be affected.  
 

79. The Laing & Buisson model is based on broad assumptions. The Council has tested 
the model through the consultation process. It has attempted to test the assumptions 
by gathering local information that may inform the model. It is argued by the Council 
that as payroll costs are broadly similar, there is no need to change the model for 
these. As stated above, the remaining cost information received via consultation is 
difficult to interpret in order to apply relevant local cost elements to the model. 
Furthermore the Council would question whether the rate of return on capital within 
the L&B model is appropriate for circumstances in Oxfordshire. Given that the 
Council does not seek to encourage new build, the costs that need to be covered are 
the repayment of existing build costs and an element of profit.  

 
80. The ADASS model is only for Residential Care. It makes the assumption that the 

allowance of £108 for Full nursing care can cover the additional costs of a Nursing 
establishment. The update Laing & Buisson model suggests that the cost of nursing 
care is staffing & medical supplies which amounts to £117 and that is broadly 

Page 68



 
 
 

comparable. Although consistent on staffing costs with the Laing & Buisson model 
and the provider returns, the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services model 
assumes lower running costs particularly on utilities.  

 
81. The Association of Directors of Adult Social Services model addresses the rate of 

return issue by allowing an element of profit 6% and recognising a funding cost. The 
funding cost takes a new build cost of £60,000 per bed and applies a 6% interest 
rate and 2% depreciation to this. This build cost is similar to Laing & Buisson but 
Laing & Buisson includes a start-up loss element and applies a rate of return of 12% 
on build cost. As new build is not being considered, the start-up loss element is not 
required so the Association of Directors of Adult Services approach seems 
reasonable. In addition the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services model 
allows a profit assumption of 6% on total cost. The Association of Directors of Adult 
Social Services model is cumulatively allowing a 12% rate of return but the basis for 
the calculation is different. 

 
82. On balance the ADASS model is preferable as it offers a cost of capital that reflects 

the council’s market view of no growth. The council has used the ADASS model with 
a £6.70 hourly rate to arrive at a weekly residential cost of £452. The Funded 
Nursing Care element is then applied to arrive at a Nursing Rate of £560. 

 
83. However whatever model is used providers are looking at reasonable cost while 

councils have to consider finite resources, affordability and achieving best value for 
money.  Inevitably there will be a difference between these goals at the time of 
making a placement.   

 
84. Local market conditions in terms of supply and demand will have a legitimate impact 

on price.  Local factors may also generate a situation that genuinely allows the local 
authority to purchase service at a lower than cost price.  If expansion outstrips 
placements then there may be an increase in the number of vacant beds available 
(unless these are taken up through demand resulting from demographic changes). 
Inevitably this will add to operating pressures for some providers as they experience 
vacancies and changing income levels. 
 

85. The result may be that in the future the council may be able to more easily access 
beds at a lower than cost price as providers seek to generate income. The counter 
argument is that some homes will go out of business and the market may end up 
being dominated by providers aiming only at the private market. 

 
86. The Service & Community Impact Assessment indicates that should a significant 

increase in the care homes budget be made then there will be less money available 
to spend within Adult Social Care. The impact on vulnerable people of having less 
money to spend on other types of support (including support to support people in 
their own homes) will have a greater negative impact on vulnerable and disabled 
people than a care home fee level increase. 

 
Financial and Staff Implications 
 

87. If the Council sets the residential banding rate at £452, then the cost to increase all 
Care Home placements below that rate to the new level is £3,169 per week or 
£164,800 per annum.  

Page 69



 
 
 

 
88. If the Council sets the lowest nursing banding rate at £560, then the cost of 

increasing all current placements below £560 to that level is £4,620 per week or 
£240,300 per annum. 

 
89. If the Council were to accept the above recommendations the total cost therefore is 

£405,000 per annum. 
 

90. Across the Council, inflation is given to all budgets including Adult Social Care 
budgets and income budgets. A balanced Council budget is then achieved by 
seeking savings from Directorates. So, although Adult Social Care received an 
inflation allowance on expenditure and demography for additional clients, at the 
same time to balance the Council’s budget Adult Social Care was given a savings 
target of delivering spending reductions of £35m a year by 2014/15. So effectively all 
the funding given to Adult Social Care is offset by required efficiency savings. 

 
91. This leaves Adult Social Care with a dilemma. That is, whether an increase for 

inflation, and higher banding rates, should  be given to Care Home providers, or 
whether the funding should instead be spent on supplying a Social care service to a 
wider client base.  
 

92. Despite the above  
 
(a) We have reaffirmed our intention to maintain a significant level of investment in 

care homes in our draft Older Persons Commissioning intentions. We aim to 
make 400 placements a year. 

(b) We are working on making available financial advice to self-funders so that their 
personal funds can be invested in such a way that it will sustain them for the rest 
of their time in care. This is good for them, good for us and good for care homes.  

(c) Where a care home is experiencing particular hardship or financial problems we 
will review their financial standing as part of our Safeguarding and Business 
Continuity strategies to determine appropriate action. 

 
 

93. We have been mindful of the above points when coming to a conclusion about 
Banding Rates for 2012/13 and 2013/14  

 
94. We reaffirm our view that care homes in Oxfordshire have an important role to meet 

the needs of vulnerable adults. We also recognise that the Council has an important 
role to ensure that there is sufficient capacity within the social care market to meet its 
future commissioning requirements. 
 
JOHN JACKSON 
Director for Social & Community Services 
 
Background papers: None 
 
Contact Officer: Sara Livadeas, Deputy Director – Joint Commissioning 

Tel: (01865) 323968 
 
January 2013 

Page 70


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes , 10/01/2013 Adult Services Scrutiny Committee

	6 Safeguarding Board Annual Report
	7 Pooled Budgets
	8 LINk and Healthwatch Update
	Priorities from Hearsay! 2013

	9 Care Homes Fees

